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Advertifement.
Efterday came to my Hands a Reply to

this Narrative ; and to prevent a
great Miftake, wmto which the Reader may
be likely to fall, I declare to the World, that
I who writ this Cafe of Mprs. Clark bad
not, dereclly or mdiveclly, the leaft Hand in
writing or publifheng the Anfaver to1t, bow
plaufible  foever the Grounds may appear
that I my [elf was the Author of it.




Mrs. CLARKs

e A S0k

E@%%EH E ugjuﬁiﬁable Treatment
ST Y of this worthy Lady as a
wPenm Lunatick, having made fo
w9 F: L@ much Noife in the Town,
I perfuade my felf, that this impar-
tial and concife Account of the Mat-
ter of Fa&t, as well as the Obferva-
tions made upon it, will not be un-
acceptable to the Publick.
Mrs. Clark, a Gentlewoman of Se-
venty Three Yearsof Age, was look’d
. upon as Diftratted by her Relations,
» ead were confirm’d in their Opinion

by the Judgment of Four Phyficians,
| who
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who were defir’d to vifit her: This
Sentence being paft upon her Under-
ftanding, fhe was manag’d with all the
Rigour and grievous Severities, which
are employ’d for the Recovery of the
moft outragious Madmen ; her Doors
were fecar'd by hird Porters, her
Goods fent away, her Money feizd,
herServants turn’d out, and her Friends
deny’d to fee her. Upon Complaint
made to the Lord Chief Juftice Parker,
the Cafe was heard before him, and up-
on the Credit of Dr. M----, Dr. Fy----,
Sir Ed---d Turner the Lady’s Brother
and Mrs. Turner her Niece, his LO];df
thip did not think fit to enlarge her.
Five Days after, Sir Lhomas Clarges
a Juftice of Peace, in great Compaf-
fion to her, refcu’d her by Force, and
convey’d her to the Houfe of one of
her Relations. "The Day following fhe
appeared before the Lord Chief Ju-
ftice, and the Cafe was re-heard ; and
then, upon the Opinion of Three other
difinterefted Phyficians, who teftify’d
that fhe was of a fober Mind, which

they
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they made good by many convincing
Circumftances ; and upon her own
giving a long, but coherent and moving
Account of the whole Cafe, and her
barbarous Ufage; my Lord, having or-
dered that the fhould be fet at Liberty,
and that her Houfe and Geods fhould
be reftor’d, feverely reprimanded her
Relations for their difhonourable Be-
haviour 1n this Affair ; in the mean time
he atted tenderly with refpeét to the
Credit of the Doltors, one of whom has
the Honour to be his Lordfhip’s own
Phyician.

N. B. The ILord Chief Juftice put
to Mrs. Clark the Affidavits of the Phy-
ficians, upon which they grounded their
Judgments of her Maduefs ; all which
Paflages of Wordsand Aétions {he well
remembered, gave a rational Account
of them, and fhew’d plainly, that
they were vilely turned againft her.

- One Phyfician’s Depofition was this,
that (he fancied {he had {wallow’d Glafs,
which wasMatter of Fat, but it was by
Accident, as it was fully prov’d at the
Hearing, B Dr.
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. Dr. M—=, to prove her Madnefs,
depos’d, that {he held him by Force 3
the fame Perfon carry’d Dr. Hales the
Phyfician of Bedlam to Mrs, Clark, and
thefe two vifited the Lady after fhe was
confin’d.

Now, it being fuppos’d that this Nar-
rative contains the true State of the Cafe,
the following Obfervations naturally a-
rife from It

1t muft be acknowledg’d by all 1m-
partial Judges, that the Proceedings of
the Dottors, as well as of the Relati-
ons, againft Mrs. Clark, {upperted by
fuch weak and unconvincing Evidence,
as does not deferve a ferious Confuta-
tion, were unwarrantable and cruel.
There 1s no doubt but by various un-
worthy Pretences, fome avaricious or
indigent Pratticers have fometimes pick’d
the People’s Pockets of their Money ;
but that any fhould take the High-way
of Phyfick, compell Men to deliver their
Reafon, and rob them of their Wits in
fuch a notorious Manner, is perhaps as
unprecedented as it - is Criminal.  If

{uch
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fuch licentious Practices thould prevail,
what can we expelt, but that a terrible
Perfecution may foon be fet on Foot by
the violent Inquifitors of Mousrficlds, who
upon the moft flender and inconclufive
Suggeftions, may fend out their inhu-
mane Oficers to teize, confine and - tor- .
ture any Perfons, whofe Underftandings
they fhall pretend are fallen to decay,
or who upon the {lighteft Grounds, and
from difhonourable Views, are by near
Relations informed againft as frantick
Hereticks, and Apoftates from natural
Light and common Serife. |

It is an Inftance of great Opprefiion
and Inhumanity for the Doltors, upon
{uch 1nfignificant and frivolous Allegati-
ons as were brought again{t Mrs. Clark,
to take away her Liberty and treat her
with Violence, as a Diitratted Perfon ;
for if upon account of fome Singularity
in Manners, any peculiar Oddnefs of
Temper, or whimfical Caprice, which
lowever did ‘not appear .1 this Cafe,
Perfons may be taken up by the Liftors
and Apparitors of Bedlam,may be chain'd,

1m-
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imprifon’d, and treated with the fharp-
eft Difcipline, while they are left as
much without Remedy as the unhappy
Outlaws of that Place ; who doss not fee
that a vaft Part of this Nation, fo much
acquainted with the Lfiects of the Spleen
and  Hyfterical Pafions, may by their
defigning Kindred be prov’d guilty of
incoherent Difcourfes, improper Excur-
tions, and inconftant "'emper, and
thereupon be condemn’d as Lunaticks,
and manag’d as {uch? Should {uch Evi-
dence, 1 fay, be ailow’d, what would
become of the numerous Family of Co-
quets, and the not inferior Race of Im-
pertinents, Fops and Coxcombs; and.
how would fome of our greateft Wits
themielves fave their thin Partitions from
being broken down, and preferve thewr
Ill-fenced Inclofures from being laid in
common with the Territories of Bedlam?
And further, it thefe unwarrantable Pro-
ceedings are connived at, halt our Houfes
may be fhut up, and become the Prifons
of the Inhabitants, with whom all Com=
merce and Converfation muft be forbid-

den,
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den, while the Plague of Diftra&ion
would be rife and univerfal, and Keep-
ers would be wanting to attend the Lu-
naticks.

This Way of Proceeding without
Proof, and treating pretended Madmen
with Force and Cruelty, is indeed as an
effe¢tual Way tomake a fober Man mad,
as to cure one that i1s {o; and this Ad-
vantage {uch Doctors will have, that
thofe whom they did not find, they
will make Lunaticks, and then the {ub-
{equent Marks of Diftraction fhall be al-
ledg’d to back and juftify the firft unrea-
{fonable Charge.

Could it be fuppos'd that the other
Members of the learned Body of Phyfi-
cians {hould aét with equal Rafhnefs and
Indiftinétion in refpett of the Patients of
this Species, it muft be allow’d that
there would be more than one College
of difturb’d Minds n this City.

But why were not gentle Methods
prefcrib’d by the Dottors at firft to re-
duce this pretended Lunatick, before

e % they
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they came to Extremity? Why did
they not dire¢t Afs’s Milk and Crabs
Claws, fo much in Fafhion, not on-
ly in the greateft chronical Diftempers,
but all inflamatory and malignant Fea-
vers? I do not know whether thefe
powerful Remedies have been yet diret-
ed in Apoplexies, and for Prevention of
fuddain Death : But 1 am inform’d there
is a Differtation ready for the Prefs, in
which they are recommended to be usd
in Clyfters, inftead of Cow’s Milk and
Sugar, for the cure of the moft inveterate
and obftinate Difeafes ; whence it ap-
pears, that the Milk of the Afs and
the Claws of the Crab are endow’d
with as great Variety of Wonder-
working Vertues, as the Prayer ad-
drefs'd to the Virgin Mary for Women
in Labour, which was form’d and print-
ed fome Years ago in Francs, to which
as a Poftfcript was added, And this
Prayer 1s likewrfe good for Feavers and
T'hunder. Now why, 1 fay, were not

thefe ealy, generous and pleafant Me-
-' dicines
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dicines firft try’d, before thofe A&s of
Force and Cruelty were infifted on ?

It has been alledg’d that this Gen-
tlewoman appear’d diforder’d in her
Mind, from her Religious Difpofition
and frequent Strains of Devotion. Such
Qualities are indeed, .in the Opinion of
fome Phyficians, an evident Mark of a
diftemper’d Head, who attribute all
religious Principles and devout Paffions
to an exorbitant Melancholly, over-
agitated Spirits, and {plenetick Imagi-
nation. But 1t did not appear that this
Gentlewoman’s Piety was Enthufiaftick,
or by any Means inconfiftent with a
fouud and undifturb’d Mind ; nor was
there more Ground to believe that her
Reafon was overturn’d ]:I:y too much Re-
ligion, than that the Faculties of the
Doétors were prejudic’d by too much
Learning,.

N. B. This Lady’s Relations, as
well as the Phyficians, do ftill perfift in
declaring not only that the was mad,

but that (he ftill continues fo ; and grhg

x%3
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firft give this, out asan Anfwer for not
returning Bank Bills of 200/ which
were taken from her : The Phyficians
by this are athamed to own they were
miftaken, or which isthe modefteft Way
to get off, impos’d upon by the Relations,
which fhews too pliinly that it was a
downright Confpiracy.

FiodiloIN s




1

THE T RUE

A N7

Mrs. CLERKE:

Set forth by her BRoTHERS,

Sir EpwarbD
AND TURN__OR.

Mr. ARTHUR

To which are added,

All the DEPOSITIONS on that

Occafion.

In Anfwer to a Scandalous Pamphlet, lately
Publifb’d, call’d, Mps. Clerke’s Cafe.

LONDO®N;

Printed for Fohn Morphew, near Stationers-Hall.
Price 1 s

A







Akl

The Cafe of Mrs. Sarah Clerke and her
o Bratbem Sir Edward Turnor, and
Arthur Tumor, Elq;

H E Cafe of Mrs. Clerke has madea great

deal of Noife in all Quarters of the Town 3

and both her Relations and Phyficians
have been feverely cenfured, the One for askings
and the Other for giving fuch proper Advice as her
Condition required. The Gentlemen, whofe Re-
putations have been chiefly ftruck at, were not at
all moved by thefe Popular and Party-Clamours,
nor thought it worth their while to take notice
of foch Tea-Table- Talk, as would have died of
courfe in a few Weeks ; or however, have given
Way to the next Crop of Scandal, which this
fruitful and well cultivated Soil wou’d foon have
produced. But fince the World has been appealed
to in as folemn and voluminons a Manner as the
Author could rife up to, ina very dear Three-pen-
ny Pamphlet, Intituled, AMrs. Clerke’s Cafe, The
wonderful Produdion probably of one of thofe 4if-

intereffed Phyficians, who teftify’d, that fhe mas of

a [ober Mind ; it might look like a Sign of Guilt to
be filent any lunger and if the Perfons afperfed,
fhould fay nothmg in their own Defence, the mali-
cious Wurld would be apt to conclude they had no-
thing to fay.

Thr;: mutual and intire Affe@ion that was al-
ways between Mrs. Clerke and her two. Brothers,
(Bir Edward and Mr. .i'rbﬂr Turner) together w&!;

2
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the near and natural Tie of Blood, were too ftrong
Obligations upon thefe Gentlemen, had they had
lefs Honour than they are known to have, to fuf-
fer them either to have contrived or confented to
any Contrivance of hard Ufage towards their
Sifter, any farther than was abfolutely neceflary
for the Prefervation of her Life, or Underftand-
ing, or both. And it happens very luckily in this
Cafe,  that the Phyficians they imployed, are of
{uch eftablifhed Reputation and Chara&er, that all
the World will allow ’em to be Gentlemen who are
above Corruption, and who fcorn for any mean or
mercenary Ends to proftitute their Profeflion, in
order to {ferve any Turn, or Intereft, or Party, or
Perfon whatfoever. And it were well if thofe di/-
snterefted Phyficians (as they are ftyl’d in this Pam-
phlet) could as clearly acquit themfelves of the
Charge of going out of their Profeflion, and inftead
of being Fee’d as Phylicians to dire& Medicines,
of being hired as Evidences to give Teftimony in
a Court: Butit is likely thofe who employed them
were fo well acquainted with the Talents of fome
of them, asto know for which of the two Tasks
they were beft qualify’d.

There were two Phyficians of Note, fuperior in
Fame, and equal in Title, even to the Renowned
Sir Fobn Shadwell, (we mean Sir Sam. Garth, and Sir
Hans Sloane) who bad fo much regard to the Rules
of Decency to their Brethren, and we fuppofe alfo
to the Methods obferved in their Profeflion, as
to refufe being imploy’d in fuch a Cafe, as they knew
could be nothing elfe but Matter of Contention.

It was once thought moft advifeable to have
anfwered this doughty Piece in the Modern Way of
Advertifement ; but fome of the News-Papers be-
ing taken up with a Controverfy of another Na-
ture, and the reft befpoke before-hand for a Month
to come, by the feveral Candidates, for Qﬂmfuf-

. dairl
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‘lain and Bridge-Mafter, that Proje& was laid afide,
as at prefent not eafily pratticable.

This indeed would have been fomewhat like the
Proceedings of the other Side, who in two of
Appleby’s Journals, February 22. and March 8. pub-
lifhed fuch fcandalous, but withal {uch falfe Ac-
counts of this Matter, as the Gentlemen concern-
ed thought worthy of no other Anfwer, befides
Silence and Contempt.

[t is not intended in the following Account, to
an{wer either the frothy infignificant Harangues
of the Florid, or the low Witicifms and obfcure
Hints of the Satyrical Part of this Pamphlet. For
what Anfwer can be given to nothing? Or what
Anfwer need be given to what is nothing to the
Purpofe ? But the plain Matter of Fa&, as it ap-
pears in the Depofitions, which were delivered up-
on Oath, by one Party as well as the other, are here
faithfully laid before the Readers, whom for once,
we may accoft in the lLanguage of old Saffo/ld of
famous Memory, (a Perfon of egual Abilities and
Reputation with our Author or Authors) Read,
Try, Fudge, and [peak as you find !

Rs. Sarabh Clerke went to the Bath in Offober

laft, 1717. and her Niece Mrs. Mary Turnor

with her, as ufual, Dr. Mead being now her Phy-
fician ever fince Dr. Radcliffe’s Death. She return-
ed home on the firft of Fanuary, where her Brother,
Sir Edward Turnor, met her that Evening, and found
her very fleepy ; but attributing that to her Jour-
ney, left her in good Time to her Reft, and came
to her again the next Day, and fo almolt every
other Day till the 30th of Fanuary, on which Day

he fell very ill of the Gout and Stranguary, aund
A 3 ftirid

o
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ftir’'d not out of Doors till towards the Middle
of February.

But whillt he did vifit her, he found her either
extraordinary {leepy, though never fo much Com-
pany with her, or elfe eternally talking for two
or three Hours tﬂgether; to divert both which
Diftempers, he ask’d her feveral times if the would
go to Cards? Which fhe for many Years has been
very fond of, and there being no Body in the
Houfe who underftood any thing of the Game of
Ombre but her Niece, they three fat down to play,
as often they had done, both in London, and at
her Brother’s Houfe in the Country, and play’d for
Sixpence a Dozen, but Mrs. Clerke was almoft al-
ways a nodding, and fo fleepy, that fhe knew not
what fhe play’d ; and being often called upon by
her Brother to mind her Game, fhe woun’d ftart as
if frightned, and then fall a nodding again, which
fhe did feveral Days ; her Brother did rife up, and
told her, fhe was not fit to play with any Body,
for fhe loft her Money to nothing; and having
won about four or five Shillings, he took one Shil-
ling only, and told her, he would make her pay
for his Coach-hire home, but defired her never to
play any more with thofe Ladies, who came often
to her only for the Sake of her Money and a good
Supper ; for he had often feen her lofe Two, Three,
Four or Five Guineas a Night, at Three-penny
Ombre.

Her Sleepinefs, or talking by Fits, for three or
four Hours together, and often very incoherently,
continuing, her Brother begg’d of her to fend for
her Docttor, and take fome Phyfick, which fhe pro-
mifed to do, and accordingly Dr. Aead did pre-
{cribe her fome Phyfick, which her Apothecary,
Mr. Nichelfon, hrought her, and fometimes fhe would
take it, and fometimes fhe wouid not: But one
time particnlarly 2 Purge was brovght her, hand

i _.EP;-.-
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happened to be carried down into the Kitchen ;
and her Maid, as fhe faid, carried it upinto her
Chamber, after fome time ftaying in the Kitchen:
And when Mrs. Clerke came up to Bed, the Maid
told her of it 5 but Mrs. Clerke looking on it, told
her ’twas Poyfon, and fhe would not take it ; and
whilft this Humour was upon her, fhe refufed to
take her Phyfick, and every Day took Occafion to
go abroad, fometimes very early in the Morning,
and fomerimes almolt all the Afternoon. Her Bro-
ther, Sir Edward Turner, finding this, did earneftly
beg of her to put herfelf again under the Care of
her Phyficiap; to prevent that Drowfinefs, which
elfe might ¢nd in a Lethargy 5 upon which fhe
took his Advice, and fent for Dr. Mead, and he
prefcribed her what Phyfick fhe would take; and
about once or twice fhe might take it; but that
preventing her from going abroad, fhe afterwards
refufed to take any more, pretending her Family,
and every Body about her, would poifon her : She
began firlt with her Woman Mary Tyrrell, then
with her Niece, and afterwards every one in her
Family by Turns, and at laft, it fell to her Apo-
thecary and Do&or’s Share, and fhe would take no-
thing. But being often very ill in the Night,
and talking to her felf almolt all Night long, her
Brother defired her to let fome Perfons fet up
with her, in Cafe fhe wanted any Body to affift
her, which they did for two or three Nights; and
her Niece fat up with another Perfon the firft
Night ; but after fome few Nights, ‘twas thought
more advifeable by her Brother to have her Maid
Mary Tyrell to have a Bed brought down, and
put into a Clofet in her own Chamber, which was
done.

But two or three Nights before this, fhe happen-
ed to be very ill in the Night, and her Maid lying
over her Head, or in the third Story, fhe rung her

| A 4 Bell
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Bell about 3 or 4 a Clock in the Morning and
called her Maid up, which awakened her Niece
who lay in the next Room and could hear every
Word fpoken in her Bed-chamber; and when the
Maid came, fhe bid her to bring her a little Glafs-
Vial, in which was fome Balfamick Syrup, which
fhe took &ff, and bid the Maid Tyrre/ go to Bed, but
as fhe was going from the Bed fhe let the Glafs-
Vial fall, and broke it, at which Mrs. Clerke was
very angry, and made her take it up from the
Ground, and put what Syrup fhe could into a Chi-
na-Cup, which fhe did, and the Pieces of Glafs al-
fo, and fet the Cup in the Chamber-Window ; and
Mrs. Clerke rifing very early, fhe rung for the Maid,
and feeing the Cup in the Window, the drank fome
of the Syrup, and fecing the Pieces of Glafs in the
Cup, fhe cry’d out fhe was poifoned, and made fuch
a Noife, that her Niece came running to her, to
whom fhe told fhe was poifoned with Glafs, and
fome of it ftuck in her Throat; and asked her
Niece what was good for it ? who told her, a Vo-
mit was the belt Thing fhe could think of, and
fhe might quickly make a Tea or Liquorice-Vomit,
or drink a great deal of warm Water, which fhe
had ufed to do; which fhe did, and brought up
fomething which fhe made her Maid fearch for
in the Bafon, and therein fhe found a little Piece of
Sea-coal, as they thought, and then fhe feemed to
be pretty well; but ftill it run in her Head that
fthe had {wallowed fome Glafs. Though atanother
Time fhe told Mrs. Stukely and Dr. Hale, that fhe
had only like to have {wallowed this Piece, but
pull'd it out of her Throat with her Fingers. And
when her Brother came that Day, the 14th of Fanu-
ary, to dine with her, fhe told him of it, who
asking her if fhe felt any Pain in her Throat, in
her Stomach or Guts, perhaps there might be fome,
but if fhe found none hurt her Throat when fhe

' {wallowed
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{wallow’d the Syrup, nor no Pains about her, un-
doubtedly fhe had not fwallowed any. But fhe
would not be perfwaded that the was not poifoned,
and fent in great hafte for Dr. Freind, who being
told by the Meflenger that a fudden unfortunate
Accident had befallen Mrs. Clerke, left his Dinner,
and came immediately to her. When the Do&or
came in, fhe told him fhe had had an Accident in
{wallowing fome Glafs, but before fhe talked of
that, muft give him an Account of her Conftitu-
tion. She began a Year or two backwards, and
gave a long and particular Account how fhe found
herfelf at the Bath ; the Doctor was a perfe& Stran-
ger to her, however, he often put in a Word to
remind her of coming to the Point of the Glafs,
for which he was fent for in fo much hafte, but
he could not prevail, ’till the whole Hiftory was
firt out. Upon examining the Matter, he told
her, ’twas his Opinion that fhe had not {wallowed
any Glafs, or if any little Bit had by Chance flipt
down, fhe need not fear any ill Effe& from it:
For he would order her fome Manna, and Broths,
as he did, which would carry it off, and fhe wounld
hear no moreof it, Accordingly the next Morn-
ing fhe fent him Word that fhe was very well.
The Doftor in a few Days after went into Torkfhire,
without feeing her again ; but during his Abfence,
Mrs. Clerke often fent to his Houfe, and would not
believe he was from home, and fometimes came
herfelf, and asked the Servant if Dr. AMead was
within ?

A Day or two after that, fhe took a Fancy again,
that her Maid Tyrrel was 1n League with the
Apothecary’s Journey-man, and that they Two had
combined to poifon her ; and having been told that
there was a Gentlewoman who lived at Deptford
and fomewhat related to Tyrrel’s Brother, fhe
would not be fatisfied, but fent her Coachman

' ' with
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with her Horfes and a hired Chariot, and her
Footman Will. Mills, and Katharine her Houfe-maid,
to fetch that Gentlewoman from Deptford, thongh
fhe had never feen her in her Life before : Which
Gentlewoman coming to her in the Evening, and
not knowing any thing of what fhe enquired for,
Mrs. Clerke then did not know what to do with
the Gentlewoman ; but at laft (fhe not heing able
to return home that Night) caufed her to lie with
Mrs. Pordage, a Kinfwoman of her own, who
lodg’d in her Houfe, and fent her away next Morn-
ing ; whether rewarded for her Trouble or not, is
not certainly known. Her Brother being told this,
and telling her of it, and what an extravagant
Aéion ’twas, fhe fell into a mighty Paffion, and
railed againft his Daughter’s Maid, and faid fhe
was a diabolical Woman ; and fometimes againft
his Daughter, and faid fhe was married to the
Duke of Gordon 5 and fhe faid at other Times, that
the Duke, tho’ a marry’d Man, was to be mar-
ried to a Perfon of Quality, and defired a parti-
cular Friend of that Lady, that he would ufe his
Intereft to prevent it ; but now he affirmed he
‘was married to her Niece, and that he vifited her
very often in her Chamber ; Which her Brother be~
ing fenfible he did not, and having feen the faid
Duke in her Parlour, vifiting of herfelf, and his
Daughter above Stairs, and came not down that
Afternoon at all, having the Lady Berty Butler and
Mrs. Sharpe above with her, and hearing her, his
Sifter, invite the faid Duke to Dinner, he believed
no fuch Thing, but that ’twas a Lye of her Maid
Tyrrell’s raifing, or elfe old Flower’s, who had always
been ufed to tell her Lies and Stories of the whole
Family ; but Sir Edward faid, if his Daughter’s
Maid offended her, fhe fhould be turn’d off fo foon
as his faid Daughter could get another. And ac-
cordinglyher Brother did fpeak to his Daughter

1o
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to get another fo foon as fhe could, but defired
her at the fame Time to remember, that when fhe
was in his Houfe in Auguft and September laft, the
faid Tyrrell had told her feveral Lies and falfe Sto-
ries of moft or all of his Servants, which his Sifter
had told him again whilft at his Houfe at Halling-
bury 3 and he begg’d of her not to meddle with
his Family as he had never done with hers. All
this while fhe would take little or no Phyfick, be-
ing ftill of Opinion that fhe fhould be poifoned.
And her Apothecary, Mr. Nicholfon, a very honeft
Man, who had ferved her almoft thirty Years, came
one Morning to her Brother’s Chamber, and even
with Tears in his Eyes complained to her Brother
of the rudenefs of old Flower, who is above 8o
Years of Age, how fhe had reproach’d him with the
Doctors of an Intention to poifon her, elfe, why
would he give her fo much Laudanum ? And he
reply’d again, That Laudanum was a very im-
proper Medicine for one who was always alleep;
fhe reply’d, She was fure fhe wou’d be poifon’d.
And her Brother, Sir Edward, telling his Sifter of
Mrs. Flower’s Behaviour, and begging of her to be
quiet and pacified, after three or four Hours Stay
with his Sifter, went home and left her, defiring
her to confult her Phyficians.

By this Time ’twas come to be the 26th of Fa-
nuary, being Sunday, and her Brother dining with
her that Day, and asking his Daughter, whom he
thinks he faw firft, for fhe ufed to meet him in che
Paflage to ask his Blefling; and asking her how
her Aunt did? fhe told him Dr. Adead had been with
her that Day about 12 a Clock, and had prefcrib’d
fomething, but fhe doubted fhe would not take it ;
and that Dr. Adead had told her that her Aunt
was very much out of Order, for fhe was difturb’d
in her Head ; and that he would call upon Sir Ed-
ward and tell him of it ; upon which Sir Edward

went
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went and fat down by his Sifter, and aked her
how fhe did before Dinner, and if her Do&or had
been with her ? to whom fhe reply’d, He had;
but had done nothing to her liking. And he ask-
ing her if the had any Bill for Phyfick, if fhe had, .
fo foon as he came home he would fend the Bill to
her Apothecary, as formerly he ufed to do ; but
the would not give him the Bill : And whether fhe
fent it by her own Servant or not, her Brother
knows not, but rather believes fhe did not ; for
if he is not very much miftaken, fhe was abroad
almoft all the Day.

But that Day at Dinner, being the 26th, her
Brother finding her to ramble very much in her
Difcourfe, and talking very paflionately, and ask-
ing him if he had ever been acquainted with An-
timony ? he told her, no j; but he had heard of
the Antimonial Cup, and that White-wine or
Sack fteep’d in fuch a Cup, was a Vomit: And he
had heard of crude Antimony, which beaten to
Powder, mix'd with Oats for a' Horfe, was a
very good Receipt for a Farcy Horfe. Then fhe
asked him if he had ever heard of the Glafs of
Antimony ? and he telling her he had not, and ask-
ing her what fhe meant by it ? fhe told him fhe was
fure the laft Phyfick fhe took had Antimony in it,
or Glafs of Antimony, or fome fuch Thing, for fhe
found it in the Bottom of the Phyfick fhe had ta-
ken lately : Whereas, before, fhe had told her Bro-
ther fhe did not know what Antimony was.

On the 2d of February fthe was willing to take
Advice again, and fent to Dr. Freind to meet
Dr. Mead. The former did come, but the latter
being engag’d at Kenfington, could not ; fo the Con-
fultation was put off till the next Day, when they
both met; fhe talk’d in a very rambling odd Man«
ner to them, and they both of them exprefs'd

thetr Fears of her growing miore diforder’d in her
. Hﬂ'ad’
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Head, if fhe did not fc _ 7 Oire&tions more pun-
&ually than fhe yet had ‘Cone. With great Diffi-
culty they prevail’d upon her to Bleed ; and or-
dered her fome Phyfick, which fhe took next Morn-
ing. At Noon Mrs. Mafters came to
Dr. Freind, and defired him to go to Mrs. Clerke
immediately 5 the Doctor faid he was at Dinner,
but would come as foon as ever he had din’d ; fhe
prefled him again to come along immediately with .
her, for Mrs. Clerke would not be fatisfied till fhe
had feen him. The Doftor went, and found her
in Bed, in violent Pafflions with all her Servants,
and Mr. Nicholfon the Apothecary : The Doétor
ask’d her how her Phyfick agreed with her? fhe
faid, very well, and had anfwer’d, fhe fupposd,
what it was defign’d for ; it had given her two
Stocls : But, fays fhe, I have never a faithful Ser-
vant in the Houfe ; no Body will do it for me;
I have offer’d a Guinea to Mr. Nicholfon, and he
won’t do it. The Doétor ask’d what fhe would
have done? I would have them look into the
Chamber-pot, faid fhe. When the Do&or ask’d
for what ? fhe anfwer’d, for the Glafs which you
know I {wallow’d. The Doé&or endeavour’d to con-
vince her of the Abfurdity of fuch a Fancy, and
how impoflible it was any Glafs fhould be there,
that Accident of fwallowing Glafs, if fhe had
fwallow’d any, having happen’d three Weeks a-
go. But nothing he could fay would pacify her;
fhe was fure there was Glafs in the Chamber-pot ;
fhe would have it fearch’d. It was carry’d out;
and the DoQor told her it was fearch’d, and there
was no Glafs in it : Upon which, fhe grew very
eafy.

,{Fter this, for two or three Days, fhe would do
nothing of what the Phyficians prefcrib’d, but was
perpetually vifiting or vifited. And Sir Edward
Turner obferving thefe and many other ramb]indg

an
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and raving Difcourfes, ;and fearing fhe would go
Abroad that Afternoon and expofe herfelf, asked
her to lend him her Coach, which fhe did ; and
knowing Dr. Mead’s Hours at home being about
4 of the Clock in the Afternoon, he went to the
Doctor’s, and found himat home ; and after about
half an Hoaur’s Difcourfe with him, in which the
Doétor told him, fhe was difturb’d in her Head to
that Degree, that fhe wanted Dr. Hale more than
Him or Dr, Freind ; and her Brother believing this,
coming from two fuch eminent Doltors, and by
what he had by his own Obfervation feen and
known for fome Days before, told Dr. AMead that
he did not know Dr. Hale, and therefore begg’d of
him, Dr. Mead, that he would carry Dr. Hale a-
long with him to tell him his Judgment; and that
he might eafily do it, for he believ’d his Sifter did
not know Dr. Hale, and he might carry him and
introduce him as his Friend, which Dr. Meud pro-
mifed to do.

And from Dr. Mead’s Houfe, her Brother Sir Ed-
ward, went to his Brother Mr. Arthur Turnor, who
lives in the fame Square with Dr. Mead, and told
him what the Do&or had faid 3 and his Brother
agreed to the feading of Dr. Hale With Dr. Mead
to their Sifter.

In fome few Days Dr. Mead did carry Dr. Hale
to their Silter, who, as her Brother was inform’d,
was in her Parlour, and fhe refufed fome Time to
let him feel her Pulfe, but when they had difs
courfed with her, and made what Obfervations
they could upon her Cafe, they plainly faw the Dif-
order of her Head, and prefcrib’d what Medicines
they thought proper 5 and accordingly the Medi-
cines were carried to her that Day. But Sir Talbot
Clerke, a young Gentleman whom fhe had main-
tain’d upon Charity, with his Father, Mother, two
Brothers, and one Sifter, came into her Parlour Lﬂ.
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the Afternoon, before fome Company, and told
her, that ’twas reported in the Coffee-Houfes
that fhe was mad ; and told her, that one of the
Doé&ors fhe had had with her, was the Phyfician
of Bédlam, and hoped fhe would take no Phy-
fick from him, for fhe was as well as ever fhe
was in her Life. And the Phyfick coming to
her that Evening whilft he was there, and the
Plaifters ; he told her, Look here, Madam, here
are Bliftering-Plaifters, and Phyfick, I hope you
will take none of them ; and defired he might
fend them home again, which Sir Talbot Clerke
did, by her Footman William Mills, During this
Time, her Brother Sir Edward, was taken ill of
the Gout and Stranguary, and fearing it might
hold him a long Time, he made a fhift to fee his
Sifter that Afternoon, and told her what extra-
vagant Humours fhe had taken upon her, and
begg’d very earneftly of her to be guided by her
Do&ors, left her Sicknefs fhould encreafe upon her
too faft without fome Prevention : and that he
 begg’d it of her now the more earneftly, be-
caufe he feared he fhould not fee her again in a
great While ; as he did not, but in his own Lodg-
ings, till Thur(day the 27th of February, when he faw
her at the Lord Chief Juftice’s Chamber : And her
Brother Mr. Arthur Turnor having been fo very ill
of the Stone for above a Year, that he was not able
to ftir abroad in a Coach, nor {carce in a Chair,
fo that by both their Diftempers fhe was left to
her felf ; for her Niece had no Power with her, by
the Means of Sir Talbot Clerke and his Wife, but
particularly of Mrs. Stukeley and her 3 or 4 Sifters
the Mafters’s, who were perpetually following poor
Mrs. Clerke, and took a little Houfe two or three
Doors from her, and were conftantly fome of them
eating and drinking at Mrs. Clerke’s, and frequent-
ly talking many Hours to her, and provoking her

to
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to Difcourfe, which fhe was too prone to do,
though to the Difturbance of her Head and Brain,
as will be quickly made appear.

After this, Mrs. Clerke defired fhe might again
be in the Hands of Dr. Mead, and Dr. Freind, and
fhe would do whatever they would have her. Ac-
cordingly they did meet again, February 11. and
prefcrib’d for her. But fhe ftill going abroad in-
ftead of taking her Medicines, they both declared
they could do her no Manner of Service, if the ma-
naged her felf at this Rate, and could not anfwer
for the ill Confequences that might attend fuch a
Negle®t of her Health ; and acquainted her Re-
lations, that fhe muft be kept to a ftri¢ter Confine-
ment, and forc’d to take Medicines.

Mrs. Clerke continuing thus without any Advice
from her Doétors, and rambling abroad in the
Morning betimes, and fometimes in the Evenings,
fhe came once in two or three Days to vifit her Bro-
ther Sir Edward Turnor, for whom fhe had always
profefled a very great Friendfhip and Kindnefs, as
indeed he believes fhe had, till this unfortunate Ac-
cident of her Diftemper ; becaufe he could not, in -
his own Judgment, as well as by the Do&ors Opi-~
nions, agree with her that fhe was not difturbed
in her Head, which fhe fhewed every Day more
and more upon her vifiting him; for he having
told her one Morning of her extravagant Opinion,
that fhe was to be poifoned by every one in her
own Family by Turns, excepting old Flower, and
afterwards by her Dottors and A pothecary, who had
ferved her for above 30 Years very faithfully and
honeftly, as fhe had often declared, and had per-
fwaded her Brother for many Years to make ufe of
the fame Apothecary, which her Brother did, both
for himfelf and all his Family, and found him very
honeft and careful, as well as skilful in his Bufinefs,
to the beft of her Brother’s Underftanding. a4
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And her Brother told her alfo, of her fending
to Deptford, upon Sufpicion of the Apothecary’s
Journey-man and her Maid combinining to poifon
her, and what little Satisfaction fhe had reaped by
it : She fell into violent Paffions, and told her Bro-
ther, he would never believe any Thing fhe faid,
and that fhe would make it out ; which he told her
he could not believe ; for what could they get by
it, but to be hanged for their Pains? And he ho-
ped fhe had never deferved fuch Ufage from any Bo-
dy, for he had obferved her always to do what good
fhe could, and fhe was always charitable to all Per-
fons who wanted her Affiftance; and therefore beg-
ged of her very earneftly to ftay at home and be
quiet,.and fend for her Doctors, who he did not
doubt, but with Care, would reftore her again to her
right Judgment. But fhe fell into mighty Paflions
again, and fo left her Brother.

And very amazingly to her Brother, fent her
under Foot- Man William Afills, either the next
Morning, or the Morning after, with a Mellage by
Word of Mouth, that fhe defired him her Brotber,
to fend for the Lord Harcourt, and Sir Conffantine

Phipps, and whom elfe he thought fit, and fhe

would bring all her Family before them, and her
Brother with them fheuld try them all : To which
her Brother made Anfwer to William AMills, that in
his Life he never heard of fo wild a Propofition,
and bid him tell her that he defired her to be at
uiet.

Qt Which Footman, as her Brother has been fince in-
formed, fhe gave a Guinea to carry the Meflage, and
told him her Brother wou’d give him another; but
William Mills did not think fit to tell her Brother of
it. For which Meffage, and what happened vpon it,
See the Affidavit of Adary Aven

% \Within
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Within a Day or two afterwards, fhe came again
to her Brothers, and complained of his Daughter’s
Maid, Mary Avon, what an Infolent Wench fhe
was, and how fhe had faid, fhe, Mrs. Clerke was
mad, and ought to be kept up, and that her Mif-
ftrefs, her Niece, had fupported her in it, and de-
fired that her Maid might be fent away. To which
her Brother replied, he doubted fhe had wrong In-
formation, for fhe had two ill Perfons about her,
old Mrs. Flower, whom he had known for so Years,
and who had been always guilty of making Stories
and Lies both of her own Servants and others
where-ever fhe came; and that her Maid Tyrrell
was as bad as Mrs. Flower, for they finding fhe was
apt to hear Stories, had fupplied her fufficiently with
them.

As to his Daughter’s Maid, he told his Sifter fhe
fhould be turned off as foon as his Daughter could
get another, and accordingly he fpoke to his Daugh-
ter about it, which fhe promifed to do.

About this time Sir Edward having told his Sifter
this, and his Daughter, and Mrs. Pordage being
come to fee him, he was furprized to fee his Sifter
come into his Chambers, with the {faid Mrs. Eower,
and one or two more, faying, fhe had brought her
Servants to clear themfelves; and her Brother tel-
ling her ’twas impoflible for ‘them to do it, fince
he himfelf knew the very Particulars, and had re-
repeated them to her, fhe {aid fhe would turn them
all away ; and after many Words and Paflionate Ex-
preflions, went away, and in a Day or Two turn’d
off the faid Tyrrell, paid her her Wages, and told
her, fhe had been the Occafion ofa great deal of
Mifchief, and appealed to her Niece if fhe had not.
She alfo turned off her Cook-Maid (but ’tis faid
the Cook-Maid turn’d off her felf): She alfo by
Mrs. Flower, paid her two Footmen to the full of
their Wages, and tcok Receipts from all of them,

as
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as the faid Mre. Hower has fince told Sir Edward;
{o that heturn'd off none of thofe Servants, as has
been falfly fworn againft him. For when he took
Poffeffion of the Houfe, by his Servants and two
Temple Porters, they found the fiid Mrs. Flewer in
the Houfe, and one Katherswe Evans, who had fer-
ved his Sifter 3 Years, and the two Footmen 3 and
there the two Women remiined till the Wefmin-
ffer Juftices broke open his Sifter’s Doors ;j and the
two Footmen were told they might do fo, if they
did not meddle or make with Affairs within Doors,
por run out and make Difturbance, and raife a
Mobb in the Street; which they did, — and then
they were fhut out, till the Jultices put them into
Pofleflion again, when they broke open the Doors
and carried Mrs. Clerk away with them.

During all this Time, from the 30th of Fanwary,
Mrs. Clerk went abroad every Day, Morning and
Afternoon, till the was carried up to her Chamber
and confined (which was on Setwrdasy, the 15th
of February) andin that time expofed herfelf in all
Companies, and was very angry with her Niece,
becaufe fhe avoided going abroad with her; which
her Niece did decline, becaufe fhe was fure her
Aunt would ex pofe her felf as fhe daily did at home,
(her Aunt receiving all Vifitors, who were pleafed
to come to her) by eternally talking, and that fo
incoherently, that her Niece was forced to keep
her Chamber, to avoid the Confufion fhe was daily

ot in by it, and particularly the lat Wecek be-
ore fhe was confined ; which her Brothers were
very unwilling to do, hoping the beft, and that
fhe might be perfwaded to confine her felf, which
fhe obttinately refofed. During all which time,
Sir Talbot Clerke, a Cornet of Ho:le, which Place
fhe procared him, and his Wife, Mrs. Stukely, and
her 3 Silters the Maffers’s, were fome, or all of them
almoft daily with her, flattering, and telling hﬁ:‘.
: B2 ¢
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fhe looked very well, and that fhe feem’d to be
as well as ever fhe was fince their Knowledge
of her ; and this fome of them have fworn in their
Depolfitions betore Sir Harry Dutton Colt, a Weft-
minfler-Juftice : Pide Mrs. Stukely, Sir Talbot Clerke’s
Depofitions, Mary Tyrrell, Eleanor Pilkington, Hugh
Stoney, William Mills, and feveral other Depofitions
and Examinations upon Oath to that Purpofe, and
a Second (as 1 take it) Affidavit to clench all,
before the Lord Chiet Juftice Parker, made by Mrs.
Stukely.

But from the above-mentioned 3oth of Faunuary,
till the Thur[day the 13th of February, Mrs. Clerke
once in two Days vifited her Brother Sir Edward,
who lay very ill, and tarried with him from the
Morning generally till Two or Three of the Clock,
and did talk fo extravagantly, and from her ufual
Senfe and Underftanding, that he was convinced
of her Lunacy, talking over all thofe mad Parti-
culars in the feveral Affidavits annexed, and fworn

by Charles Turnor, Arthur Turnor, Mary Turnor, Ra-

chael Pordage, Thomas Prior, Mary Aven, and Ed-
ward Pordage.

And more particularly on Thurf/day the 13th of
February, fhe talked much of her Purity, and of her
being as unfpotted, and as far from the Knowledge
of Man, as the Virgin Mary; which when her
Brother objefted to her how could that be, when
fhe was Ten Years married, and lay Nightly with
her Husband ? She made no Anfwer, but dropd
down on her Knees, and for whatever her Brother
could do, prayed aloud for fome Time, but fuch
nonfenfical Stuff, and fo wild, that he was furpri-
zed extreamly, and begg’d of her to go home,
and not worry her felf as fhe daily did ; which at
laft fhe did confent to. But before fhe went, fhe
asked her Brother, if he would not own that fhe
was in her right Senfes? To which he anfwered,

- how
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how could he do that, fince fhe daily, and pa'rti- '

cularly that Day, had behaved her felf {o contrary
to all Senfe and Reafon? At which fhe rofe up
i1 a Fury, and faid, well then I’ll never fee your
Face more; and go your Ways, and live with
your Three Wives, one of which your Daughter
fiw you in Bed withal. To fuch an extravagant
Puflion did her diftracted Head drive her ; for when
fhe had her Senfes, fhe knew very well, (he had of-
ten propofed to her Brother to marry again, and (he
offered him Matches, and knew he might have mar-
ried very much to his Advantage, but that he al-
ways declined it.

She kept her Word, and her Brother never faw
her again, till fhe was brought before the .ord Chief
Juftice at his Chambers on the 29th of February,
BT

On the laft Day which her Brother faw her, as
above-mentioned, which was February the 13th,
his Daughter fent him a Letter, with one enclofed,
which was writ to her that Morning by Mrs. Hart-
ﬂw{ge, the Bithop of London- Derry’s Widow, which
Letter (’tisdefired may be perufed) and his Sifter’s
wild Difcourfe together, put him into fuch a Dil~
order, that his Hands and Feet fell a trembling
that he thought he fhould have Convulfions, which
made him fend immediately for Dr. Afead, who
could not be found till Eight a Clock at Night, and
then the Doctor came very kindly, and diretted
kim fome Medicines to take, and telling the Doéter
of his Sifter’s Condition, how much worfe fhe was,
the Doftor reply’d, it had been his Opinion, fhe
ought to have been confined fome Time before ;
and then Sir Edward asking him if he would Sign
fuch a Letter, and if he thought Dr. Freind, to
whom he was a perfect Stranger, woun’d do the fame!
the Doctor reply’d, he would write fucha Lettcr
to him, and that he was fure Dr. Freind would da

B 3 tie
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the {ame, for ’twas his, Dr. Freind’s, Opinion as
well as his own. Dr. Mead did then write that
Letter in the Prefence of Sir Edward, and he fent
it forthwith to Dr. Freind, by his Daughter Mrs.
Turnory, and Dr. Freind fign’d the Letter, and fent
it back by the fame Hand. And the next Day,
being February 14. Sivr Edward, and his Brother
Mr. Arthur Turnor fent a Letter by Mr. Ni-
cholfon, to Dr. Hale, to defire him to take care
of their Sifter, as they were advifed by Dr.
Mead and Dr. Freind, Dr. Hale did fend with
the Apothecary’s Journey-mam two Nurfes to
.attend their Sifter, and to carry her up Stairs to
bher Chamber. The two Brothers being very illy
could neither of them go to their Sifter 3 but
Mr. Arthur Turnor {fent his Son to perfwade her if
poflible, or elfe to carry her up; but fhe wouv'd
not be perfwaded, and Mr. Edward Turnor her Ne-
phew, would not nor did not carry her up, fo
her Confinement was deferred for that Day; but
the next, Mr. Arthur Turnor and Dr. Hale, after ha-
ving tried all Perfwafions and fair Means to get
her into her Chamber, ordered the two Nurfes
to carry her up, which they did ; fhe ftrugling in-
deed, and railing all the Way, but fhe was not
dragged, as fhe hasreported ; for the Nurfes took
her under the Hams, and on the Bottom of the
Back, her Brother Mr. Turnor holding her Shoul-
ders and Head ; and fo confined her to her Cham-
ber, fhe crying out for Help ;3 Mrs. Stukely having
been with her almolt all that Day, and then pre-
fent.

We fhould have mentioned that Mrs. AMary Bar-
vington whillt Sir Edward was {ick, made hima Vi-
fir, and informed him in what Condition his Sifter
was, and how madly and extravagantly fhe ralked,
and wondered fhe was not kept up in her Cham-
ber. To which Sir Edward reply’d, ’twas a hard

Thing
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Thing, and would be fo look’d upon, to confine a
Sifter whom he loved fo well ; but fhe wifely an-
fwered, ’twas better to confine her than to let her
expofe herfelf, as fhe found fhe daily did, fhe having
dined there that Day.

And Mr. Coats a Nephew of Mrs. Clerke’s Hus-
band, going to vifit her when fhe had a great deal
of Company with her in an Afternoon, he came
that Evening, being a Day or two before fhe was
confined, and told Sir Edward of moft of the
wild Difcourfe he had heard from his Aunt ; and
when Sir Edward told him they had done all
they could by Perfwafions and fair Means, he re-
ply’d, then fhe ought to be confin’d, and not fe-
Enitted to expofe herfelf to all Comers, as fhe daily

id.

In that Week before her Confiment, Sir Ed-
ward fent for AHugh Stone, the biggeft of his Sifter’s
Footmen, and difcourfed with him to know if he
and his Fellow-Footmman would keen the Doors,
and prevent all Perfons from going up to his Mi-
ftrefs, but whom he and his Brother fhould appoint,
till fuch Time as the Dod&ors had recovered her ¢
But that impudent Fellow refufed it, {aying, fhe was
as well as ever fhe was in her Life, and thought
fhe ought to fee whomfoever fhe pleafed, and that
fhe needed no Phyfick : Which he fwore before Sir
Harry Colt, though he had owned before (for which
fee Mary Avon’s Affidavit) that fhe was difordered,
and therefore chid William Mills for taking his Mi-
ftreffes Guinea, faying, he had lived with her about
18 Years, and fhe had never given him a Six-penny-
piece in all that Time. :

And note, Mrs. Stukeley very officioufly has,
contrary to Truth, fworn very largely, That
Mrs. Mary Turnor told her Aunt that fhe was mad,
whereas it was Mrs. Sarah Gee that faid fo, for

- Mrs. Turnor did not go up Stairs with her Au}r‘lt,
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but ftayed in the Parlour below, when her Aunt was
carried up.

Her two Footmen Fugh Stone and William Adills
having refufed to keep the Door to prevent Com-
pany from going up to their Miftrefs, all Company
being forbid by the Do&or, even her two Brothers
and Nicce, the two Brothers thought themfelves
obliged to take care of the Doors by fome other
Perfons ; and to that End Sir Edward fent Two
of the Ticke Porters at the Temple-Gate that very
fame Day fhe was confined, to keep Pofleflion of
the Doors and Houfe, not knowing what the Ser-
vants might do during their Sifter’s Confinement :
And Mr. Arthur Turnor, after his Sifter was carried
up Stairs, covered the Knocker of the outward Door
with Leather, to prevent making a Noife when any
knocked, and to fhew any Vifitor that their Sifter
was very ill ; but her good Servantcut off the Lea-
ther fo foon as Mr. Turner had turned his Back upon
the Houfe.

Mrs. Clerke was very obftinate that Night and
all the next Day, and would take very little Nou-
rilment ; but the next Night being Sunday the
16th, fhe run to her Cabinet which was fealed up
by her Niece the Night before by her Father’s
Order, her Anat having the Key in her own Pocket,
as alfo the Key of the great outward Door, and
broke one of the Seals, and opened the Cabinet
whillt one of the Nurfes was warming of her Bed,
and the other Nurfe run down Stairs and called
out for Help; upon which Mr. Edward Pordage
being below in the Parlour with his Sifter and
Mrs. Mary Turnor, and {fome other Company, he run
up Stairs,and upon the Noife he made, Mrs. Clerke
ran into her Bed-chamber, putting feveral Things
and Papers either into or under her Bed, and
Mr. Pordage asking her how fhe came to open her
Cabinet, and what fhe had taken out? fhe anfwerd

him,
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him, only fome Papers, which fhe faid were Verfes
which fhe had made for her Diverfion when fhe
was young, and which fhe defired him might not
be expofed 5 but he defiring her to let him have
them to put them up again, upon his earneft En-
treaty fhe did, and went to the Bed and pull’d a
Bundle out nflt wherein was fome Lottery Tick-
ets, a large Parchment which fhe told him was her
Wil (and this was the firft Time we knew fhe had
a Will) and a Gold ftuff Purfe with 36 Guineas in
it ; all which fhe would have had him to keep for
her ; but when he had them, he put them all into
the Cabinet again, and 16ck’d it, and feal’d it with
his own Coat of Arms, and gave the Key to her
Niece Mrs. Turnor 3 and the next Morning when
Mr. Coates and Mr. Sparkes took the Inventory, thefe
before-mentioned Parcels were by them found in the
Cabinet.

Note, Her two Brothers having been informed
that Night of what fhe had done, they thought it
the beft Way for her Advantage to fecure all her
Money, Jewels, Plate and Goods which they could
find in ber Dining-room, and take an Inventory
of them, and lock and feal up the Dining-room
Doors, which they did ; having been inform’d alfo
that Sir Talbor Clerke had been with their Sifter
at her Cabinet the Thur/dey before, that fhe had
carried out with her (and he in her Company)
feveral Things, but what they could not tell ; but
Sir Talbot Cfrrke and fhe went out in her Cuach
together, and they went to his Lodgings about
Greek-ftreet, as the Coachman informed her Bro-
thers. *

For thefe Reafons, that {he might not embezzle
any more of her Eftate ; Then, and not till then,

did her two Brothers think it proper to lock with’

Padlocks and feal up the Dining-room, Drawing-
room, and Clofet Doors, and being both very iil,
and
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and not able to go thither themfelves, therefore
that Night they writ a Letter to Mr. Coares and
Mr. Arthur Sparke, one, her Relation by her Huf-
band’s Side, and the other by her Brother’s Side:
Which Letter fee at the End of this Relation of
Matter of Fact.

According to the above-mentioned Defire or
Order, which you pleafe to call it, Mr. Coates and
Mr. Sparke the next Morning, being AMonday the
17th of February, did take an laventory of what
they could find, and fign’d it with both their
Names, and brought it to Sir Edward Turnor : Who
when he perafed it, found mifling out of his Sifter’s
Cabinet four Bank-Bills dated the 7th of February
laft paft, of §o /. each, one Bond of 250 I for-
merly lent to the Barl Marfall of Scotland, of fome
Vears ftanding : And he alfo knew his Sifter had
received 100 /. more in Guineas, and 8o /. more
in Silver, by the Hands of Mr. Edward Pordage,
together with the four Bank-Bills- And he alfo
found fhe had received 50 L. Part of a Bill of 200 /A
which fhe had in her own Name and her Brother
Mr. Avthur Turnor, payable to gither of them by
Sir Kobert Child ; which 50 /. fhe received fome.
Time 10 January. All which Money then wanting
did amount to the Sum of 680/. and making Enquiry
after it, he found fhe had ordered Mrs. Flower to
pay off four of her Servants their full Wages to
that Time, viz. Mary Tyrrell, and her Cook-maid,
and two Footmen ; and to Mrs. .Flower herfelf a-
bout 29 /. all which Sums did amount, with the
Coal-man’s or Brewer’s Bill to about §2 /. o that
there ftill wanted about 628 L excepting 36 Gui-
neas which was found in her Purfe as above-men-=
tioped by Mr. Pordage, and afterwards lock’d up
in_her Cabinet, and left there by Mr. Coates and
Mr. Sparke 5 and yet the Money ftill wanting did a-
mount to about s /. %

S
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As to the Bond of the Earl Marfthal’s, Mrs. Clerke
had faid when fhe was in her Vapours (as the Ladies
were pleas’d to call it, but indeed in her Madnefs)
that her Niece Mrs. Mary Turnor had flole it a-
way, and fent it to the Earl Marfhal : Which her
Niece’s Father having reafon to enquire ‘into, he
found out one Mr. Lefley, a Scotch Gentleman, whom
he had never feen in his Life before, but had heard
his Sifter name him ; and asking him, if he knew
any thing of the faid Bond ? he told Sir Edward,
that when Mrs. Clerke was at his Houfe at Hal-
lingbury in Effex in Auguft laft, he fent for her up
to Town to fee the Bond, that he might fend down
into Scotland to claim it before the Commiflioners
of the Forfeited Eftates, before the Time was e-
laps’d ; a Copy of which Bond he took, or the
Date, and delivered it back again into her own
Hands before a young Gentleman, whom by the
Defcription muft be Mr. Coates, who, as was well
known, tranfacted moft of her Bufinefs—— Where-
by note, That Mrs. Turnor her Niece was then left
in the Country with her Father by her Aunt, and
fome Time after came up for a Week with
her Aunt about the Repairs of her Houfe, came
down again with her Aunt, and ftay’d with her
Father till about tent Days before fhe went with
her Aunt to the Bath, asufual, in the beginning of
Oftober 5 {fo that fhe could not make away with
that Bond.

And the four Bank Notes of 50 L each being
ftill wanting, and none knowing what was become
of them, Mrs. Clerk’s Brothers having been in-
form’d, that the Thur/day before their Sifter had
been at her Cabinet with Sir Talbot Clerke, and
taken feveral Things out, they feared fhe might
have given them to fome Body, either Sir Talbot or
other Perfons for them{elves in that her Diftraction,

or to keep them for her Ufe : Ard therefore ﬁ}nt
> or
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for Mr. Pordage (who had received them for her)
and defired him to go to the Bank, and ftop them
there, in cafe they fhould be demanded 5 which he
did, and delired the Officers at the Bank to ftop dny
Perfon, that fhould bring fuch Notes to them ; and
they made him give a Bond of 20/. to anfwer any
fuch A&, if they fh:uld have Occafion to doit:
W hich Journey about two or three Times backwards
and forwards, with the Charges as the Bank, coft
about twenty one Shillings.

And the two Brothers alfo fent to the two Nur-
fes, to bid them ask their Sifter, what fhe had
done with her Bank Notes? And in {ome Days
after in one of her Fits fhe told them they were
torn in Pieces, for fhe faw fome of thofe Pieccs
flying about in the Room in the Air. And the
Naurfes telling her they fuppofed fhe had given
them to fome Body, fhe faid they fhould fetch
‘Madam Turnor, for fhe knew where they were ; but
then repeated again, that fhe faw Pieces of them
flying about the Room. But after fhe was out of
her Bed, they, the Nurfes, faw fome Pieces of Paper
fcattered about the Bed, and asking her what they
were ¢ fhe anfwered, they were the Bills torn all to
Pieces ; and they asking her how fhe came to do
fo ? fhe reply’d, they were fometimes in her Stock-
ings, fometimes in her Shoes, fometimes under her
Back, fometimes under the Bolfter, and fometimes.
got to the Feet of the Bed. The Nurfes then look-
ing again, picked up the Pieces and fent them to
her Brother Sir Edward; and asking her how fhe
could do fo, and how fhe would get her Money ? fhe
faid, fhe did not fear getting of the Money, for my
Lord Carnarven was an honourable Gentleman, and
fhe would fet him in the Front of the Battle, and
he would getit.

As to the Bank-Bills, her Brother Sir Edward has
them, torn as they were, and is ready to reﬂ!:lnre

them
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them when fhe is capable to receive them, or to
her two Trultees whom the Lord Chief Juftice was
pleafed to appoint her, if he the Lord Chief Ju-
ftice will pleafe to fay he ought to do it. And
Dr. Bridges coming the next Day to Sir Edward
with Mr, Walcert, to tell Sir Edward that he muft
fend for his Goods out of Mrs. Clerke’s Houfe, for
fhe had Occafion for thofe Rooms for fome other
Perfon, Sir Edward reply’d, he would do it as foon
as he could ; and accordingly did fend for them
away the Monday following. Dr. Bridges at the
fame Time told bhim he had another Meflage to de-
liver from his Sifter, which was, to demand her
Bank-Bills; to which Sir Edward reply’d, that he
would not give them to him nor any Body elfe, but
to herfelf, when fhe was capable to receive them,
and to give a legal Difcharge, then he was ready to
do it, but he would fhew them him, that he might

fee how fhe had torn them. And he telling Sir
 Fdward, thatif they were the fame Bank-Bills there
were Pin-holes in them, for fhe had faid fhe had

inn’d them to her Smock for fome Time; and
Sir Edward then looking upon them Piece by Piece,
fhow’d the Docttor the Pin-holes very plainly to be
difcovered ; but put them up again, telling the
Doétor they had loft Money to ftop the Payment at
the Bank; and the Do&or replying, “Mrs. Clerke did
not take herfelf to be liable to paythat Charge, Sir
Edward told him, that was not his Opinion; for
when fo much Kindnefs was done, Mr. Pordage who
did it, ought to be paid for his Expence.

Mrs. Clerke was confined as before mentioned
by her Brothers on Saturday the 15th of February,
Mrs. Stukely being prefent : And fhe out of great
Care and Afteétion for' Mrs. Clérke, confults with
Siv Talbot Clerke and the Weftminfter-Juftice,  Sir
Harry Dutton Coit, and a great many others which
fhe had fummoned to her Houfe, how to be rcveng’c}
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of the two Brothers ; and the Refult of the Con-
fultation was, That they muft get Hugh Stone,
Mrs. Clerke’s Footman, to make fome Depofition
before Sir Harry Colt of his Miftrefs and her Con-
finement ; which Depofition he made on the 18th
of February, which was the fourth Day after her
Confinement ; and the {fame Day one Elizabeth Pil-
kingeon, who had been placed with Mrs. Clerke but
a Day or two before by Mrs. Srukeley (Mrs. Clerke
having turn’d off Mary Tyrrell) made another De-
pofition ; and then Mrs. Stukeley alio the fame Day
made another, and Sir Talbor Clerke another ; all
dated the fame Day, upon Oath taken by the
worfhipful Sir Harry Colt — Then Edward Kirk-
land jun. and Fobn Bayley, two of Mrs. Clerke’s
Country-Tenants, who came up to hire fome Land
of her, who ’tis thought never faw her before,
muft give luformations upon Oath alfo before the
faid Weftminfter-Juftice on the 19th, wherein they
wondred fhe fhould be deem’d a Mad-woman :
And then FElizateth Tyrrell, whom we call Mary
Tyrrell, made an Information before the faid Ju-
ftice upon Oath on the 19th of February, and
fwears — That Mrs. Adary Turnor contradicted them
in letting Mrs. Clerk’s Friends come to vifit hers;
whereas fhe knew very well that the Door-keeper
had that Order, and that every Body was refufed
to fee Mrs Clerke, even her Brothers and Niece.
- And to the end that Mrs. Aary Turnor might
be removed, Sir Harry Dutton Colt and Sir Talbot
Clerke waited upon the Lord Chief Juftice (as her
two Brothers have been informed) with thofe De-
pofitions, and obtain’d a Habeas Corpus for Mrs.
Clerke, dated the 12th Day of February, but not
ferved upon her till the 19th, which frightned
Mrs. Turnor to that Degree, that fhe, together
with Mrs. Pordage, came running to her Father’s
Chambers, not knowing the Nature of Habeas
Corpus’s,
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Carpus’,'s, but thinking fthe muft go to Goal imme-
diately. She likewife told Sir Ea’ward, that there
was fuch a Mob gathered together about her Aunt’s
Doors, that fhe had much ado to get out, and was
afraid to return ; for it feems Mrs. Cleike’s two
Footmen, and Sir Talbor Clerke’s, and Mrys. Stukely’s,
¢ c. had under Prerence of fecing Mrs. Clerke, kept -
a continual knocking at the Door, and had rai-
fed a ftrange Tumult. But the Door-keepers ob-
ferved the Orders that had been given them, re-
fufing Entrance to all Perfons, not excepting the
worfhipful Juftice him{elf, unlefs he brought Sic
Edward Turnor’'s Order for it. Upon which he
threatened to bring a File of Mufqueteers and
break open the Doors, with other menacing Words,
what he would do, and how he would punifh them
for denying him Admittance.

When Mrs. Turnor brought the Habeas Corpus
to her Father in the Temple, he fent to Mr. Har-
sourt of the Grewn-Office, who immediately came to
him, and after fome Difcourfe wiihhim, Mr. Har-
court went to the Lord Chief Juftie¢’s Chambers,
to know when he would be attended aboat it, who
appointed the Day following, being Thurfday the
2oth, at 8 a Clock at Night; but the Chief Ju-
ftice not coming from the Houfe of Lords till after
8 a Clock at Night, he wou’d not bear the Bufi-
nefs, but put it off till Saturday Morning, and then
Sir Edward, though very ill of the Gout, weat
with his Brother to attend the Lord Chief Juftice
with the Habeas Corpus in his Hand ; and finding
Sir Harry Dutton Colt there, and as he thinks Sir
Talbor Clerke, and one Mr. Morgan a pretended
Nephew of Mrs. Clerke’s alfo : Sir Edward did tell
the Chief Juftice, that he had the Habeas Corpus in
his Hand, but it was wrong direfted 5 for that he
and his Brother, and their Agents, had the Cuflo-
dy of Mrs. Clerke, and not Mrs. Turnor, for fhe was

- only
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only as a Lodger in the Houfe; but that it was

~malicioufly ordered by thofe that did it to frighten

his Daunghter out of the Houfe, that Sir Harry Dutton
Colt and his Gang might enter and take Pofleflion ;
for he had threatened that Day, after the Habeas
Corpus had been ferved, to bring a File of Mufque-
teers, and break open the Doors; which was too
foon, for the A& was not pafled the Houfe of Lords,
and the Army was yet under the Civil Power. Then
Sir Henry Dutton Colt reply’d, *Twasa Lye, he had
not faid fo. Which Words did provoke Sir Edward
to that Degree, that asill as he was, he was going
to pull Sir Harry by the Bars, if Mr. Harcourt had
not held him from it ; and then he applied to the
Chief Juftice, and defired him to punifh the Wef-
minfter-Jultice; for he did believe twas the firft
Time that ever fuch an Affront was given before a
Chief Juftice unpunifhed.

But he faying he had nothing to do with any,

‘private Cavils, Sir Edward replyed, he had never

any private Cavils with that Weftminfter- Juftice, for
he knew him too well to have any Coverfation
with him, for he was a Raparee, and was to get
what he could by Plunder, elfe what had he to
do with this Bufinefs, which was now only before
his Lordfhip, and he an abfolute Stranger to
Mrs. Clerke ? And fince {wearing was in Fathion,
his Lordfhip fhould have an Affidavit of Sir Harry’s
Behaviour the next Day that he was pleafed to
hear this Bufinefs ; and to make it appear, that
there was good Reafon to confine his Sifter, he
had Dr. Mead’s and Dr. Freind’s Letter to him
and his Brother’s in his Hand, wherein they had
ordered her being kept up, and he hoped that
was enough to juftifie them ; but his Lordfhip faid
the Letter was not enough, for he muft have the
Dodtors themfelves before him in Perfon, which
Sir Edward promifed, if he could get them; and

: | : {o



o

fo his Lordfip adjourned the Debate till Saturday
next at 11 of the Clock in the Morning, being the
22d of February.

The next Day being Friday the 21ft, Sir Ed-
ward fent for his Servant Bexfon from Mrs. Clerke’s
Houfe, whither he was forced to fend him and
another Perfon; {o that there were four to keep
the Doors from the Mob; and Mrs. Clerke’s two
Footmen, and Sir Talbot Clerke’s, Mrs. Stukely’s, and
two Chairmen of the Lord Cadogan’s, who all
threatened every Hour almoft, efpecially towards
the Evening, to break open the Doors; and
Mrs. Clerke’s younger Footman, William AMills, cry’d
out in the Street that his Miftrefs was murdered,
and they fhould look at the Back-Door to fee, if
fhe was not carried out in the Night.

The faid Bexfor did make an Affidavit before
Mr. Jultice Powys concerning Sir Harry’s threat-
ning to break open the Door that Day. For which,
fee Benfor’s Affidavit.

And the next Day when he appeared before the
Chief Juftice he produced it, and defired it might
be read, which was done; and the Chief Juftice
taking little notice of it, Sir Edward defired thac
he might have liberty to cram the Lie down
Siv Harry Dutton Colt’s Throat, fince he had the
Impudenc to deny fo plain a Truth which was now
fworn, and Sir Harry in the Room prefent.

But the Chief Juftice not minding it any further,
called the two Dod&ors, AMead and Freind, who
gave their Reafons why they advifed Mrs. Clerke’s
Confinement.

Dr. Mead, after having given fome fhort Ac-
count of the Cafe, told my Lord Chief Juitice,
That the groundlefs Jealoufie fhe had of her Friends
having a Defign upon her Life, and the Manner
and Circumftances of hér entertaining this Fan-
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¢y, were convincing Proofs of her not being in her
right Senfes 5 fhe faid at firlt, that fbe had fwal-
lowed {ome Pieces of the broken Glafs-Vial with
the Syrup ; when fhe was told that this muft have
hurt her Throat, and the Mifchief would appear
there or in her Stomach, which yet it did not 3
fhe then faid, that this Glafs was Glafs of Anti-
mony, made on purpofe to Poifon her: When the
Dofor replied, that Vials were never made of
Glafs of Antimony, fhe ran out into a wild Dif=
courfe of the Wickednefs of thofe about her, who
would be fure to murder her one Way or other.
Being asked by Serjeant Darnall, whether or no
fome one of her Relations had not given him fome
hint of her Diftraction;, before himfelf difco-
vered it ? he affured my Lord that no one of the
Family had ever fuggefted any thing to him of that
Nature ; and that when he told this his Opinion
to Sir Edward Turnor, he received it with a great
deal of Concerny though he replied indeed to the
- Doftor, that for fome time paft he had, from ma-
ny Inftances found, that fhe was not right in her
Senfes. The Doftor moreaver took notice to my
Lord, that there is fiothing more common in Ca-
fes of Diftraftion, than Patients conceiving an
Averfion to their neareft Relations, and joining
odd and extravagant Fancies to their ill-grounded
Jecloufie. He further acquainted my Lord, that
for fome Years paft he had declined as much as pof-
fible being concerned with diftracted Patienrs,
partly becanfe the Attendance was troublefome
and fhocking, partly to avoid being ingaged in
foch Difpotes with Relations and Friends of the
Patient, as his Lordfhip was now a Witnefs to. Up-
on this Account, when the Relations had propo-
fed fending for Dr. Hale, which they, upon his
Recommendation, did 5 he was the more willing
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to leave her to his Care alone; accordingly from
the Time fhe was committed to his Management,
he never vifited Mrs. Clerke as his Patient, or in
Company with Dr. Hale; he had indeed on Sunday
BEvening, 23d of February, fcen her, at the Impor-
tunity of Mrs. Turzor, who {ent to fpeak with him,
and told him, that her -Aunt had promifed her to
take ber Medicines which fhe had refufed, if fhe
might but fpeak with himm ; whereupon he, though
very unwillingly, went up to her,and foundher very
unquiet and difordered 5 he endeavouring to pa-
cifie her, fhe upon his going away, in a very out=
rageous manner, got up, and fecized vpon him,
holding bhim with that Violence, that he could
not get out of her Hands without the Help of her
two Nurfes.

Dr. Freind told the Lord Chief Juftice, That he
fuppofed he was called thither only to give his
Opinion in Mrs. Clerke’s Cale, whether he thought
her in her right Senfes or no; and therefore it
would be unneceflary to trouble his Lordfhip with
all the Particulars, which induced him to think
fhe was nor, and accordingly repeated only all the
Circumftances of the Glafs, asthey bave been al-
ready related. He faid in general, that "he had
feen her feveral times both with and without
Dr. Mead, aund that to him there appeared evi-
dent Signs of a diftemper’d Brain. That he ho-
ped, thofe of his Faculty might be allowed to
judge better of the feveral TEHdEﬂLlES and Ap-
proaches to Diftra&ion, than any other Stander=-
by whatever. That though fhe had her Intervals
of Senfe, ’twas no more than the maddelt Perfon
in Bedlam had. That for a Fortnight Dr. Mead
and he had endeavoured to do what Service they
cou’d by gentle Methods, but that'they couv’d not
make her comply with their Direftionss That 1n
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this Cafe they thought they could not do a more
jutt Thing to themfelves, nor a kinder Thing to
her, than to leave her in the Hands of One of fuch
unqueftionable Skill and Charad&ter, as Dr. Hale,
whether he did right in Point of Law fo to ad-
vife, he could not tell; but ke was fure he did
right in his Phyfical Capecity. The Sunday after
Mrs. Clerke had been put under Dr. Hale’s Care,
fhe bhad fent five or fix times for him, promifing
to take any Thing that fhould be direed, if he
would come to her; but he could not be prevail-
ed upon to go. For.he pofitively affirmed, that
for his own Part, in the Condition he had feen her,
he would not be obliged to take Care of her if he
might have all her Jointure. He hop’d he might be
allowed to add, that they were Men of a Profeflion,
and not of a Trade; and as he believed it would
not be denied them, that they managed their Pa-
tients with fome degree of Judgment and Prudence,
fo he was very well affured, that whenever their
Praftice was examined into, it would appear, they
had another very neceflary Qualification of a good
Phyfician, Integrity.

This Account given by the two Dogtors, feemed
fo fatisfactory at that Time to the Lord Chief
Juftice, that he faid there was Reafon, or he be-
lieved there was Reafon for their deing as they
did. And then fome Aflidavits were read on the
Two Brother’s Behalf. See the Affidavits of Charles
Furnor. Mr. Arthur Turnor, &c.

Some few of thefe Aflidavits being read, fome
of thofe Ladies preffed very much to have an In-
fpection of Mrs. Clerke, notwithftanding the two
Doftors Opinions before the Chief Juftice; and
named Dr. Garth, which the two Brothers denied,
then fome City-Doétor, whom they had never heard
of, and he was denied ; then Dr. Levess being na-
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med, the Brothers agreed to him, and Dr. Hale
to be joyned with him. Then there muft be two
Ladies appointed to go with them, and there
being feveral Ladies of Quality, as the Countefs
of Winchelfea, the Vifcountefs Scudamore, the Lady
Betty Spelman, the Lady Katharine Fones, and
many others, the laft Two were named by the
Chief Jultice, and confented to by the two Bro-
thers, but with a Provifo, that the Ladies fhould
not feec Mrs. Clerke without the Do&ors. But the
Ladies being in hafte wou’d go that very Hour to
have the View ; fo the Chief Juftice difmifs’d the
Company, and the two Brothers fent Mr. Edward
Turnor, the Son of Mr. Arthur Turnor, to wait up-
on the Ladies: But Sir Edward fearing the too
much Complaifance of his Nephew, though he
had not been out of his Chamber for fome Time
till his appearing now before the Lord Chief
Juftice, yet ventured in a Coach to his Sifiers
after them, and made what hafte was polfli-
blee. And yet as he feared, he found the two
Ladies were above with his Sifter and his Ne-
phew, and fo they continued till 6 a Clock in the
Evening, from one a Clock, before the Do&ors
could be got together, though Sir Harry Dutton
Colt went directly from the Lord Chief Jultice’s
Chamber, to Tom’s Coffce-houfe in Covent-Garden,
and asking Dr. Leverr, whom he found there, to
go along with him to Mrs. Clerke’s, the Doéor
refufed to go, unlefs Dr. FHale was to meet him.
Sir Harry told him Dr. Hale would be there, upon
which they went to Fermyn-flreez, and there carri-
ed him to feveral Ladies, who were got together
in Mrs. Stukely’s Houfe, at which the Doctor was
very much furpriz’d; and being told he was to
infpe& Mrs. Clerke, he came to her Houfe, and
there found Sir Edward, who telling the Dogctor,
1 C 3 they
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they wanted Dr. Hazle, but he had fent feveral
Meflengers all over the Town, to find hum if pof=
fible. The DoGor then told Sir Edward, thar he
would make a Vifit to Dr. Brydges, and ftay there
’till he was fent for.

In the mean time Mrs. Clerke exprefling a great
Delire to talk with the Lady Karharine Fones aloae,
afrer three Hours talk with them all three, the
Lady Betty Spelman and Mr. Turnor, came down to
Sir. Edward into the Drawing-Room below Stairs,
which they fhould not have done. Aud there the
Lady = Betty Spelmman told Sir Edward, amongft
other Things, That Mrs. Clerke’s was the moft ama-
zing Diftraction that fhe ever faw in her Life;
and that fhe feared it was harder to be cured than
if thewere raving Mid. This Lady Berty Spelman
fpoke before Mr. Edward Turnor and Mr. Arthur
Spark, and repeated it in the hearing of bath the
Dodtors, who are ready to atteft it upon Oath.
And yet the Lady Betry, when they were to re-
port the lafpection to the Chief Juftiee, told him,
that Mrs. Clerke was as well as fhe had ever known
her 5 and beiug pot in mind by Mr. Edward Tur-
wor; before the Chief Juftice, of what fhe had faid
at Mrs. Clerke’s,  fhe reply’d, ’twas her Opinion
then, but not now.

The Doctors being come about Six a Clock, they
went up and ftay’d with Mrs. Clerke fome time ;
and then the two [.adies, rhe Doctors, and Mr.
Turzgr came iato the P.irlourto Sir Edward, and
there the Doctors told their Opinions, that fhe
ought to be keprconfin’d 5 but cthe Lady Katharine
Joues was pleafed to be very mute upon that Point,
only tound fault with fome Things, and particu-
larly with fome Sack-Whey, which Mrs. Clerke had
complained of 5 that fhe had tafted it, and found i¢
very novght. Upon which Sir Edward fent for nnEf
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of the Nurfes, and bid her fetch down fome of
the Sack-Whey, which fhe did in a China Cup;
and Sir Edward offering it to the Ladies to tafte
of it, they refufed; then he offered it to the
Do&ors, and they both tafted it, and faid ‘twas
very good Whey 5 and then Sir Edward tafted, and
drank it off; and faid ’twas very good, but wanted
Strength. Dr. Hale then faid, it was made for a
fick Lady, and not for a healthy one.

As foon as the Ladies were come down from
vifiting Mrs. Clerke, they were asked whether they
had oblerved any Thing fo material in that long Vi-
fit, as was proper to acquaint the: Lord Chief
Juftice with? it appearing to both the Doctors,
that fhe was very plainly diftracted, and ought
to be kept under fome Courfe of Phyfick in Con-
finement ; if they did, the Phyficians offered to
wait upon them to his Lordfhip at any time. La-
dy Katharine Fones pave no An{wer to it ; but La-
dy Besty Spelman was of the Doctors Opinion 3
and further added, that fhe thought there was
no need of troubling my Lord Chiet Juftice.

At the fame Time, Sir Edward Turnor told the
Ladies, that he muft keep them Prifoners a lictle
while longer, which was to inform them of fome-
thing which they had heard complained of that
Day to the Chief Juftice ; that the two Brothers
bad moft barbaroufly turned all Mrs. Clerke’s Ser-
vants out of Doors, and only the two firange
Nurfes lefc there, and two ftrange Fellows to
keep the Doors. Upon which Mirs. Flower was
call’d up, and Sir Edward asking her how long
fhe had lived with his Sifter ? fhe anfwered so

Years; and then if fhe had been rurn’d out of -

Doors ? fhe faid, no, never. Then fhe was asked
who turned off Tyrrell ? She faid fhe did, and paid
her, by Mrs. Clerke’s Order, and took a Receipt.
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Then who turned off the Cook-Maid, and the two
Footmen ? She anfwered, fhe did, by Mrs. Clerke’s
Order, and paid them their Wages to the full,
which was the Week before Mrs. Clerke was cone
fined. Then Katharine the Houfe-maid was cal-
led up, and fhe told the Ladies, fhe had lived with
Mrs. Clerke almoft three Years ;3 and being asked
if fhe had ever been turned out? She anfwer-
ed, no; but that fhe would be glad to be gone,
for fhe had not the Liberty to bring her Brother
and Sifter into the Houfe to talk with them
fhe was told that was not permitted to any other
Perfon, but fhe might go out and fpeak with them
at the’ Door, if I'he thought fit; but if fhe went
for any "llme., the fhould be kepl: out as the two
Footmen were ; for fhe cou’d not do it upon a
good Account, ﬂnly to keep Company with them,
who are Rogues bad enough, and had forfworn
themfelves.

And then Sir Edward defired, that the Lady Ka-
tharine FYones, and the Lady Berty Spelman would
make this Patt of their Report to the Lord Chief
Juftice ; and alfo one Thing more, about pulling
down the Goods and carrying them away : About
which, the Chief Juftice was told that Day, by Mrs.
Turnor, Danghter of Mr. Fern of the Cuftom- Houfe.
And Mrs. Flower being asked, as alfo the Maid,
what knocking they had heard in the Nights, as
of taking down of Hangings, and Bed-fteads. &e.
and carrying them out? Mrs. Flower faid there was
none ; for the Hangings and Bedding had been
taken down and packed up in the Beginning of
August laflt, when the Houfe was to be put in
repair, and’ were never put up fince. And the
Ladies being defired to make their Report of this
alfo to the Lord Chief Juftice, they were fo Ho-
nourable and Juft, to the two Brothers, as not

fo
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to mention one Word of it; but by a genteel
Forgetfulnefs, left that Lying Report to remain
upon them. But God be thanked, the intended
Venom of {candalous Tongues, may in Time, be
wiped off, as the two Brothers are fure Mrs- Clerke
(if fhe has her Senfes) muft now do, having a full
Poffelion of all her Goods, now Mr. Coats is come
to Town, who help’d to take the Inventory of her
Goods, and fealed up the Doors, and faw her in
one of her fits of Di&ration : by which means
fhe has been told the Truth by him, which fhe
has hardly ever been fince her firt falling into
her Lunacy. For the Truth is, great Induftry has
been ufed all the Time of her lllnefs, to keep all
Perfons from her, but fuch as were in the Intereft
of thofe, who, taking the Advantage of her Con-
dition, make a perfeét Prey of her. Of this Mrs. Lewis
is a Witnefs, who was told by Mrs. Clerke one
Morning when fhe got away from Mrs. Stukely,
that they had endeavoured to prevent her fecing
Mr. Lew:s and her felf. And {o very careful are
they that fhe fhould fee no Body befides their own
Creatures, that Mrs. Stukely will neither {uffer her
to go abroad, nor fo much as to lic alone; tho’
’tis well known, fhe could never endure a Bed-
Fellow, If her Diforder be really fuch, that fhe
is not fit to be trufted alone ; why all this Cla-
mour againft her former Confinement? If fhe be
perfe@ly in her Senfes, why all this Care to keep
her Friends from feeing her ? But to return to our
Narrative,

The Infpe@ion of Mrs. Clerke was made on Sa-
turday the 22d of February; the Report was to be
made when the Chief Juftice fhould appoint; who
being apply’d to, did order the Thur/day follow-
ing, being the 27th of February, for Mrs. Clerke’s
Tryal, as her Agents were pleafed to call it.

In

J<



[ 42 ]

In the mean time’tis obfervable, that Mrs.Clerke’s
two Footmen, during the Time from Ssturday to
the next Wedne[day Morning, were pepetually
thumpiog at the Door, (for the Knocker of the
“Door was taken off by the Lady Betty Spelman’s di-
reftions, fhe obferving, as fhe faid, that every
Time there was any knocking, Mrs. Clerke was
difturbed with it) as if they would pull it down’
and all the Pretence was, they wanted to come
in, to fetch away their Cloths. But the Porters
ftill refufed their Entrance, and they raifing Mobs
very often in the Days and Nights alfo, cry’d out
in the Streets, that their Miftrefs would be mur-
thered.

Oune Wedne[day Morning, Sir Thomas Clarges, as
a Juftice of the Peace, with a Conftable, came to
Mrs. Clerke’s Houfe, and demanded Entrance, (Sir
Harry Dutton Colr, as fuppofed, being unwilling
to venture any forther in that Affair) which
bsing denied, he very boldly fent for a Smith and
broke open the Doors, with many Perfons about
bim, weat up two pair of Stairs, and coming to the
outward Door of Mrs. Clerks’s Apartment, found
that lock’d 3 for the Nurfes had juft locked it,
hearing a very great Noife below Stairs: But he
threatning to break open that Door alfo, the Nur-
fes ran into Mrs. Clerke’s, where Dr. Hale was fit=
ting with her by the Fire-fide in Difcourfe, the be-
ing ready drefs’d in her Cloths; and the Dotor
went prefently, and Mrs. Cles ke with him, and open-
ed the Door, and there Sir Thomas Clarges found
her. As foon as they were come in, Dr. Hale de-
clared, that he found Mrs. Clerke much better than
at any time fince he vificed her, and likely to be
well foon, if fhe was not difcompofed afreth by
this Ruflle and Surprize. Bat notwithftanding
this, Sir Thomas Clarges taking her by the Hand,

led
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led her down Stairs, but unluckily their Journey
was ftopp’d for a while 3 for one of the Porters be-
ing below 1n the Garden, when the vatward Doors
were broke open,ran and faftened the Door,and put
up the Chain, fo that the Juftice could not fally out.
- Who then looking through the Key-hole called out
to fome in the Sireet, and bid them get over the
Wall of Sir Rebert Worfley’s Garden, which joind
to Mrs. Clerke’s 5 and one of Sir Robert Worfley’s
Servauts, his M dter not being at home, and not
golng up Stairs to his Lady, (who was at home, to
ask Leave) did let four Perfons go throvgh the
Houfe, and fo got over the Wall, and forced open
the Back-doors in the Garden, and came up Stairs,
and then cried, We hope we are ftrong enough
now for you; and then went to break open the
Fore-doors again; but the Porters feeing that ’twas
in vain to refilt, they then went into the Parlour
and left them to themfelves. [ Sce.the Affidavits
of Dole and Potley.] And that Morning Mr. AMoer-
gan came to the Door, and told Edward Benfon
that he heard the Lady of that Houfe was going
to be murdered, aad faid he believed it to be trae.
[See ‘Benfon’s Affidavit.] Two of thofe Perflons
own’d themfelves to be the Lord Cadogan’s Chair-
men. For which fee Potley and Dole’s Affidavits.
When the Street-doors were again broke open,
Sir Thomas Clarges, with Mrs. Stukeley and feveral
others, led Mrs. Clerke to Mrs. Stukeley’s Houfe in

great Triamph. DBut before they went they turn’d |

the Nurfes and two Porters into the Street, and
put Hugh Stone and Williem Mills into Pofleflion of
the Houfe ; and then fent the Coaftable to fetch
the Nurfes and Porters, who kept them in Cufto-
dy above an Hour, and then fent for them to
Mrs. Stukeley’s Houfe, where they faw Sir Thomas
Clarges and Sir Harry Dutton Colry Sir Talbot C{er%-
. an
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and about a dozen Women, where Sir Harry Golt
examining all four of them, demanded Securities
from them, for they deferved to be fent to Goal.
But they anfwer’d, Thofe who did imploy them
would be Sureties for them. They told them
Mrs. Clerke had interceded for them, and they
might go about their Bufinefs.

Note, All this was tranfacted before Sir Edward
could have Notice of it; but he hearing it, went
immediately to Mrs. Clerke’s Houfe, but was de-
nied Entrance a good while, till he threatned to
break open the Door again; they did then open
the Doors, and he re-placed his two Porters to.
keep Pofltflion alfo (anﬁl indeed to watch the two -
Footmen, whom he knew to be Rafcals bad e-
nough) that they embezzled none of the Goods,
and then left the Houfe till this Affair had been
heard the next Day before the Chief Juftice, upon
the Report of the Ladies and two Do&ors.

And the next Day, being Thur/day the 27th of
February, all Parties appeared before his Lorefhip,
and Letters having been fent up and down for all
Perfons whom they could get together to make
their perfonal Appearance, there came fuch a Crew
of Petticoats, as was fcarce ever feen before in a Lord
Chief Juftice’s private Chamber. And then the
Dodtors were called on to give their Opinions of
Mrs. Clerkey, Dr. Levetr and Dr. Hale, (for Dr. Mead
and Dr. Freind had no Notice to come) who both
agreed, that fhe was fo much difordered, that fhe
ought to be kept up and confin’d from all Company,
as the other two Dotors Dr, Mead and Dr. Freind,
had declar’d the 22d of February before; and the
two Ladies declaring the quite contrary, the wife
Mrs. Sruhig and others defired, fome Dotors whom
they had brought might be alfo examined (whe
could not have feen Mrs. Clerke but either over Night

» latf."-}
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late, or elfe that Morning ;) and firft the learned
Dr. Shadwell was called, who averr’d, That he be-
lieved Mrs. Clerke to be well in her Senfes, and
free from any Lunacy as any Perfon whomfoever,
And being ask’d by Mr. Turnor, if ever he had cured
any Body of fuch a Diftemper? he reply’d, Yes,
once an Irifh-man: So that we were to go far e-
nough for that Proof. Which after all, could be no
better than an Irih Evidence— He had it feems
that Morning been in clofe Confultation at Mrs.
Stukely’s, for near two Hours: I don’t mean in
Cnnﬁ{ltatic}n with any of his Brethren; but cither
to teach Mrs. Clerke her Leflon, or to learn his
own, Dr. Bateman, the Prefident of the College of
Phyficians, who was the next that gave Teftimo-
ny, was fetch’d that Morning in hafte by Sir Tal-
bot Clerke, who defir’d him to come to a Relation of
his in Fermyn-ftreet, to confult with Sir Fobn Shadwell
about her [llnefs. He went with him to Mrs. Stuke-
ley’s, and as foon as he came there, was hurry’d into
the Coach, and had Mrs. Clerke’s Cafe there firft rela-
ted to him. And it was, no doubt, very proper to
furprize a Man of his Integrity, who if longer Time
had been given him, might probably have refufed
to go: And ’tis plain, that they who employ’d
hin did not think him a Man fo fit for their pur-
pofe; for afterwards, the other Phyficians at-
tended Mrs. Clerke without him. Dr. Ceckburne
was the other Phyfician who thought her in her
right Senfes: He juft faw her the Night before,
being perfuaded by Sir Thomas Clarges, and brought
thither in Expetation of meeting Sivr Hans Sloane,
and was appointed the next Morning to meet a-
gain. [t appears therefore upon the whole Mat-

ter, That one of the Phyficians was furprized,

and another decoyed: But we don’t find that
Siv Fobn Shadwell was at all averfe to an Em-
ploy ment,
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ployment, where Money was to be got, and E-
vidence given.—— In Anfwer to all that has
been faid by thefe Phyficians, Dr. Hale reply’d,
That Mrs. Clerke was better by what Medicines fhe
had already taken, and doubted not but in fome
Time fhe might have been very well recovered :
As he had before declared, when fhe was carried
away by Sir Thomas Clarges, contrary to my Lord
Chief Juftice’s Order, who approv’d of the pre-
{ent Difpofition of the Patienr, unlefs he fhonld
give any new Orders, which were not given, be-
caufe the Ladies did not think fit to make a Re-
port to him. —— For the finifhing Srroke, Mrs.
Clerke herfelf was brought in, ufher’d by Sir Ro-
bert Clerke, who declar’d, that he thought her to
be well in her Senfes; and had forgot, that a-
bout a Fortnight before he had declar'd to Mrs.
Pordage, he wondered his Aunt, as he call’d her,
was permitted fo to expofe herfelf; and he had
forgot alfo that he was by when Charles Turnor
and Mr. Prior heard thofe Words about King
Charles the 1. About which {ee the Depofitions.
When Mrs. Clerke came in, fhe was fet down
upon a Chair, and then the Chief Juftice ask’d her
to give an Account of the Ufage fhe had receiv’d
from her Nurfes fince her Confinement. And e-
very Body being in Expeétation of her Speech (for
fhe had always the Gift of well exprefling herfelf)
She begun with telling the Lord Chief Juftice thag
fhe went to the Barh tor her Health in Oétober laft,
and there the drank the Waters, but having drank
them irregularly, fhe found they did not agree well
with her ; for fhe drank them fometimes in Bed,
and flept betwixt the Glalles, which fhe was told
fhe ought not to have done, for they made her
very {leepy and drowfy, but that was no Wonder
- fhe faid, for fhe had been ufed to fleep in an Af-
ternoon
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ternoon With her Brothers Turnors, who were given
to fleep, for they were a drowfy Family. Then
fhe faid they advifed her to Afs’s Milk, but that
did her no good, for there being no Grai':-'.., the
Affes were fed with Graines and fuch nafty Stoff,
and bad Hay in the Winter-time, fo that the
Milk could not have any good Effet upon her.
Then fhe had a mind to come up to Town, and
fent to her Brother to defire him to call at her
Houfe to fee if the Painting was done, and at
laft he fent her word that all was done, but not
dry. Then fhe fent again to know if the Rooms
did not fmell very bad, and defired her Brother
(as fhe ufed to call Sir Edward) to call upon
Mrs. Flower to make good Fires to take away the
Smell of the Paint, which he did. By that Time
‘twas towards Chriffmas : And her Niece telling
her the Waters did very well with her, better
than they ufed to do, fhe would tarry till Chrift-
mas-day was over, that fhe might receive the Sa=
crament on that good Day. But fhe had fent to
her Brother to defire him to go again in a2 Morn-
ing to her Houfe, and not to take any Sauff that
Morning, for thofe fweet Smells would prevent
him from {melling the Paint : For he was a mighty
Taker of Snuff, and the greateft Vertuefo in Eug
land of a Gentleman, and made all his Snuff’ him-
felf. Then fhe told him fhe went to Mr. Ernley’s,
who liv’d near Sandy-lane, and ftay’d with him till
the Monday after 5 and he fhew’d her all his fine
Water-works, as his Fet-d’eaw’s and Cafcades, and
cther Works which he had made fince his coming
from his Travels, for he was abroad about three
Years 5 but the Ground being very low and very
wet fhe got Cold, ard he called one of his Work-
men to take her up in his Arms, which he dld,
and fet her down in a drier Place ; and went into

the
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the Honfe, and there the faw fuch a Fire as fhe ne-
ver faw in her Life before, and ’twas made of Sea-
coal beaten or ground to Powder, end then mix’d
with Clay and dried into round Balls, and when
fet on fire it made a very glowing Heat, too hot
for any Room, but never {moak’d nor blaz’d. Then
the Monday before New-years day fhe began her
Journey, aand arrived in Lowdon on New-years-day
in the Afternoon, and in a Day or two after, not
finding herfelf well, fhe, of her own Accord, took
a double Dofe of Rubarb, and that gave her but
two Stools, one a natural One, and the other a
phyfical One; and ftill finding herfelf out of Or-
der, fhe fent for her Dr. Mead, and he prefcrib’d
her fome Phyfick. Then fhe told how fhe had {wal-
Tow’d Glafs, or the Glafs of Antimony, and how fhe
took fome Phyfick for that: And from that fhe
told him how fhe had a Nephew, the Son of her
Niece Gee, who was a fine Youth, and fhe had paid
for his Schooling at Eaten, and now fhe had a Mind
to fend him to the Eaff-Indies 3 and fhe inquired of
Col. Harrifon, who was late come from the Go-
vernment of Fort St. George, what was the Method
to be taken in order to it? He told her fhe muft
put him to School to a good Writing. mafter, to
help him to be very perfet in Merchant’s Accompts,
which fhe did, and then called for Col. Harrifon,
who fhe faid had promifed to be there (and indeed
he ftood behind her ;) and then fhe went on and
faid fhe asked Col. Harrifon, what it would take up
to fend fuch a Youth abroad ? who reply’d, ’ewould
take up a good deal of Money to equip a Youth
well ; to which fhe faid, that his Grandmother had
given him but 1c0/. And this Boy’s Grandmother
had left him 200 /. Then the Chief Juftice faid, fhe
had a very good Memory, and {poke very diftinétly.

Then fhe began to tell how fhe was dragg’d up by the
Arms
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Arms to her Chamber, and hall’d and pull’d, and that
when fhe was brought up fhe was ty’d in her Bed,
and an Iron thruft into her Mouth which had a
great round Knob upon it, which hurt her Lips
and Mouth fo very much that fhe could fcarce touch
her Mouth ; and then they put a great Gag into
her Mouth and tied down her Hands, to force
her to take Things they gave her, and that by
ftriving with her they had made her fo fore that
fhe was all over black and blue ; and that they
almoft ftarved her, and when they did give her
Meat, ’twas at fuch Times that fhe did not care
for it. Then the Chief Juftice told her, fhe had
given no Account of the Spirits fhe faid fhe had
feen, when fhe went to Kenfington 5 to which fhe
anfwer’d, A Shadow, a Shadow, Sir, ’twas nothing
elfe. As fhe was running on in this rambling
Manner, Sir Jobn Shadwell whifper’d her, and ad-
vifed her not to proceed any farther for fear of —
and at the fame Time Mrs. Stukely wifely pull’d
her by the Sleeve. And fhe remaining ftill in
her Chair, Sir Edward defired the Chief Jultice
to ask her how fhe came to tear the Bank-Bills
into twenty Pieces, which he had then in his
Hand ? But the Lord Chief Juftice anfwered, that
was not before him, nor the taking her Will, and
the Lottery-Tickets out of her Cabinet, after
fhe had been confined to her Chamber : And the
Lord Chief Juftice was defired to call the Nurfes
to anfwer for themfelves, for they were in the
Chamber, but he did not call them. * Then ’twas
deflired, that the Apothecary might be heard to
an{fwer what he knew, and Sir Edward pull’d him
forward to tell his Story, but the Lord Chief Ju-
ftice intending not to hear any more, cal’d for
feveral Affidavits, which his Clerks brought to
-him, and he figned them : Which Sir Edward ta-
D - Kipng
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king notice of, (for he then ftood next to the
Chief Juftice) Sir Edward cal’d to Mr. Nicholfon
the Apothecary to defift, for his Information was
not to be taken.

Then the Chief Juftice declar’d, That he thought
Mrs. Clerke ought to have her Liberty and go
where fhe pleafed, and have the Polleflion of bher
own Houfe ; and asked the Ladies, who they would
have to look after Mrs. Clerke’s Affairs ? And fome
of them anfwered, Dr. Bridges and Mr. Walcort.
And the Chief Juitice then turning to Mr. Turnor,
asked him, if he would undertake it with them ?
to which he reply’d, No, my Lord, not with
them ; nor did fhe neced any Body, fince he
thought fit to eplarge her to go and do what
and where fhe pleafed.

Then the Lord Chief Juftice asked, what Phy-
ficians they would have to look after her ? And
the former Perfons reply’d, Dr. Shadwell’ and
Dr. Cockburne. And then turning about, he ask’d
the two Brothers, whom they would appoint with
the other two? to which Sir Edward immediately
reply’d, My Lord, the W hole have no-need of a
Phylician, your Lordfhip has declared Mis. Clerke
to be free in difpofing of herfelf, and therefore
we will not appeint any Perfon. Aad then being
asked, if we would not appoint Dr. Hale 7 the
two Brothers anfwered, they did not believe any
other Dofor would join with thofe Two, if there
was Occalion for it.

Thea Sir Edward prefled the Chief Juftice to
take Notice of the Riot, in Breaking open the
Doors, and punifh the Perfons that did it : But
the Chief Juflice reply’d, that was not before him.
And when Sir Edward objeéted that the Affidavits
of Dole and Purley had been read, and  that he,
2 Edward, did now defire that Jullice of him as
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to bind them over to the Seflions, or King’s Bexnch,
and he would be obliged to profecute them: His
Lordfhip pafled it over, and faid, they ought not
to have done fo.

Then 'twas demanded, that Mrs. Clerke might
have Pofleflion of her Houfe ? to which the two
Brothers reply’d, They had no Defire to be Goal-
ers, fince his Lerdfhip had declared Mrs. Clerke to
be of right Underftanding, nor did they defire
to have any more the Cuftody of her Eftate ; for
what they had done was only for their Sifter’s
Welfare, both as to her Health and Eftate; and
to keep the laft from being embezzled : And
therefore if the Chief Juftice would fay they had
done wrong, meaning the two Brothers, they
would give up the Pofleflion immediately to Mrs.
Clerke’s two Gnardians, whom his Lordfhip had fet
over her. But he only faid, that the two Bro-
thers had not done amifs ; that he would not
order Pofleflion, but thought they would do very
well if they did give it up. Upon which they
did fend Mr. Spﬂrke and one Mr. Geargc Downs to
thofe Perfons in Pofleflion at Mrs. Clerke’s Houfe,
to quit, if by her own Defire, the Pofleflion to
Dr. Bridses and Mr. Walcort, which was done ac-
cordingly 5 and Dr. Bridges and Mr. Walcott gave
their Receipt of the Pofltflion on the Bottom of
the Order to Mr. Sparke and Mr. Dowsis, as may
be feen by a Copy of the faid Order annex’d to

the Depofitions.
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The Depofition of Hugh Stone, taken before Sir
Harry Dutton Colt, Bart. One of his Majeftys
Juttices of the Peace for the County of Afiddiefex:.

HO [aith, that be bath been a Servant to Dame

Sarah Clerke near eighteen Years, inthe Qua-
lity of a Butler 5 and that in all that Time he bath not
obferved her guilty of any At of Lunacy 3 and be
is [urprized to find her locked up in her Chamber, her
Servants not permitted to come to her as ufual, and two
ftrange Men placed at her Doors to give Anfwers, not
permitting thofe of her Friends and Relations to vifir her,
or [ee what Coudition [he isin: And when [he was for-
ced up Stairs, [hriek'd outy and called for Help, and.
defired to be realeafed y and before [he was carried up
Stairs, one Mrs. Bridges came to wifit her, who was
refufed Entrance into her Houfe, and that [he got to
a Window and begg’d of Mrs. Bridges, as a Chrifti-
any to relieve hery and that [he would get the Earl
of Carnarvon, or the Reverend Dollor Bridges ro affift
her.

Jurat Coram me die g
Februarii 18. 17+2. Hugh Stone.
H. D. Colt

‘The Depﬂﬁtinn of Mrs. Eleanor Pﬂfziﬂ‘gran.

HO faith, that (he was hired by Dame Sarah
Clerke on Saturday laft, as her Servant ; that
fhe continued in ber Houfe till the next Day, thar in the
 Time [he was there, fhe did not obferve ber guilty of
any Sort of Madnefs; and that during the Time [he was
therey [he faw great Violence ufed to her, in forcing her
to her Chamber, and locking her up, and putting a Gwnj'
' E 0
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as any Lady [he ever talked with, and was furprifed to
hear ﬁﬂ fhe was the fame Day locked up for a mad Wo-

man, though [he bad directed him to come again at Night,
or on Monday Morning, totreat further with bim. And

further faith not.

Juaat Coram me die
Februarii 19. 17:15- Edward Kirtland, jun.

H. D. Colt.

The Information of Fohn Bayly, of the famePlace.

H O upon his Oath, [aith, That he was with the

Jaid Edward Kirtland at the Time be treated
with Dame Sarah Clerke about a Farm, and in bis Opi-
nion, be hardly ever [aw & Lady more in ber Senfes, or bet-
ter underftood her Bufinefs than [he ; and wonders ex-
treamly that the fame Day [he [hould be deemed a mad
Woman, and locked up. ~ And further [aith not.

Jurat Coram me die.
Februarii 19. 17} . John Bayly.
H:'D. Colt.

The Information of Elizabeth Tyrrell, taken before
me, one of his Majefties Juftices of the Peace,
for the County and Liberty aforefaid, taken Fe-

bruary 15. 1712

Middlefex a»d Weltminfter, -

W H O [aith upon ber Qath, that [he lived with
Dame Sarah Clerke near two Years, ferved ber

in her Chamber, and was lately with ber at the Bath
that in all the Time of ber Service, fhe never faw her
do one ALk of Madnefsy that [he [aith, that on Thurf=
day laft, wien fhe was difcharged her Service, [he was
in
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in her rvight Senfes, and believes her to be fo f#ill, if by
ill ufage they have not made her othermife. _And further
Jaith, that a few Days before [he was difcharged, ber La-
dy direlted ber to let the Lady Clerke, Lady Bing, .
Mrs. Morfon, Mrs. Little, Mrs. Mafters, Adrs, Stuke-
ly, and others of her Friends and Relations might fee her
when they came 5 and notwithftanding her Lady’s Oy-
ders, Mrs. Mary Turnor contraditted them, and tho’
Jeveral of them came, they was not permitted to fee her,

And further [aith not.

Jurat Coram me die
Februarii 19. 1712, Elizabeth Tyrrill.

H. D. Colt.

AME Bridget Lytton, Elizabeth Stukely,

Mys. Charlot Moftyn, William Mills, Hugh
Stone, feverally make Oath, that they attempted this
Morning (fince they was [erved with my Lord Chief Fu-
ftice’s Order) to fee Dame Sarah Clerke, but was refu-
fed by two Men that kept the Door.

Jurat Coram me die

Februarii 19. 17;2. Bridget Lytton.
H. D. Colt, E. Stukely. ,
Charlott Moftyn.
William Mills.

Hugh Stone.

Lizabeth Stukely, of German-ftreet, i» the Pa-
rifb of St. James’s, in the County of Middlefex,
Widow, maketh Oathy and [aith, that [he, this Deponent,
hath known, and being converfant with her Neighbour,
Mys. Sarah Clerke, who lives :1n German-ftreet afore-
faid, for thefe twelves Years laft paft, and upwards; and

during that Time, always efteemed the (aid Sarah Clerke
: E 3 10
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to be of found Mind and Memory, and of as good Fudg-
ment and UnderfPanding, as any ‘Lady [he ever con-
werfed with.  And this Deponent [aith, that on Saturday
laft,y fhe, this Deponent, went according as [he ufually
ufed to do, to the Houfe of her the [aid Afrs. Sarah
Clerke, viz. about the Hours of Ten or Eleven of the
Clock in the Foremgon of the [ame Day, and then and
there, to ber great Surprize, found feveral [trange Per-
fons in ber Houfey and -two Nurfes, (but not ber own
Servants) forcing ber into her Chamber, in Order,.as fhe
believed, as they then informed this Deponent, to confine
her. _And this Deponent, at the' fame Time, that the
ﬁu;d two Nurfesy ‘or Maids, were fo 'ﬁrﬁ'ifzg ber into
ber Chamber, [he, this Deponents' obferved, [aw, and
heard the faid Sarah Clerke demean and behave ber-

Jelf with great Calmnefs, Judgment and Difcretion, and ;

wo' wiy in ber- Difcour(e or ‘Behaviour, in any refpett
difordered like a Perfon under a Lunacy or Diftraftion;
and fays, that (be, the [aid AMrs. Sarah Clerke, was
not in the Fudgmeot and Belief of this- Deponent, at, or
during ‘the Time of her being:fo [eized and forced, as
aforefaid, under any Diftraition or other Diforder what-

foever. And this Deponent [aith, that in the Time that'

the [aid two Nurfes were forcing the [aid Sarah Clerke,
as aforefaid, [bey'the [aid Sarah Clerke, in a f[ober,
fenfible and fedate Manner, expreffed herfelf, and de-
clared to them, that [he would not be made a Prifoner
in bey own Foufe, and therefore commanded them to go

down Stairsy and freod contending with them a quarter of

an Hour, bur with great Calmnefsy (ber Neice Mrs.
Mary Turnor ffanding by) and [he then asked ber [aid
Nitce in this -Deponents bearing, the Meaning of [uch
Ofage ? To which hér[aid Niece reply’d, it was her Fa-
ther and her Uncle’s Order (mneaming as this Deponent
apprebended, Sir Bdward Turnor, and bis Brother My.
Arthur Turdor ) upon this, the faid Sarah Clerke, in
a calin Minner, reply’d again to her [aid Niece, and
faid, for what Reafony and what mad Attions have ¥

- o coim=
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committed, to be fo barbaroufly ufed by two Bedlamite
Nurfes? And this Deponent [aith, that to this Expref=
fron of the faid Sarah Clerke, the f[aid Mary Turnor
replyed to bery and in anindecent and rude manner, [aid,
Yes, Madam, you are Mad 3 and then the [aid two Nur-
Jes going down Stairs, the [aid Mys. Sarah Clerke took
this Deponent by the Hand, and copjured, and entreat=
ed her, this Deponent, not to leave her 5 and upon this,
fhe, the faid Sarah Clerke, and this  Deponent, went
down Stairs into the Parlour, where her Nephew Tur-
nor, the Son of the above-named Arthur Turnor,then
was. .And the [aid Sarah Clerke, feeins him there,
calmly, and without the leaft Sign of Difiraition, inqui-
red of ber [aid Nephew the Meaning of her [aid ill Ufage 2
And the [aid Turnor, the Nephew, thereupon [@id, it
was thought proper for her Health, and defired fhe would
be eafy withit; And the [aid Sarah Clerke, to this
Reply of ber [aid Nepbew, returned bim an Anfwer in the
Words, or to the Effeét following, viz. Nephbew, if you
will come and be in my Houfe for a Month, and obferve
what mad Attions I commir, I will be contented to [lay
at home, but will not go wup Stairs whilft thefe mad
Nurfes are in my Houfe, nor will I take one drop from
them, or any Phyfick they would give me ;5 and obferve
what 1 [ay, that Ilaymy Death at your Doors, meaning
(as the Deponent apprehended ) ber [aid Brothers, or the
Perfons that [o ill ufed her. _And this Deponent faith,
“that on the [ame Day, viz. on Saturday laff, and ae
the Time that this Deponent was with the [aid Sarah
Clerke, @ aforefaid, Myrs. Bridges, the Wife of the
Honourable Dr, Bridges, came in a Vifit to the [aid
Sarah Clerke, but was refufed Entrance into her Houfe,
by the Perfons who were placed to guard or [hut up the
Door : And upon this, the Servant of the [aid Mrs. Sa-
rah Clerke, that was then prefent, by the Command of
bis Miftrefs, open’d the Window ; and the f[aid Sarah
Clerke then looking out, direlled ber Difcour(e to the [aid
Mrs.Bridgesin the Streetyand [aidto her, Niece Bridges,

E 4 ! beg
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I beg you will ffand by ‘me as a Chriftian, for Iam cops
fined in my own Houle, and they (meaning thofe that
did [o) will not let you in, nor let me bave my Liberty,
fo pray [end Dr. Bridges to me, which this Deponent
faith, was [ometime after done, and he had Admittance
to her 5 and thereupon the [aid Mrs. Clerke, in the Pre-
fence of this Deponent, took Dr. Bridges by the Hand,
and fitting down by him in a [edate and [enfible manner,
told him all,or the greateft Part of the Matters aforefaid,
and the ill Ufage (he had received, and bow [he bad been
expofed and barbaroufly treated, And this Deponent
further f[aith, that alter Dinner was over, on the [ame
Day, viz. on Saturday laft, the [aid Arthur Turnor,
the Brother of the [aid Mrs. Sarah Clerke, in Compa-
ny with one Dr. Hale, came into the [aid Mrs. Clerke’s
Houfe, and being in the Room with her, and this De-
ponent 5 [he the faid Mrs. Clerke, applied to her f[aid
Brother, and [aid, [he was [urprifed at this Treatment
from ber Brothers to which, be the [aid My, Arthur
Turnor, ber Brother, anfwered and [aid, Sifter, you are
mad, and muft be confined 5 to which- the [aid Mys.
Clerke again fedately replied, and [aid, will that be
@ Credit to your Family, or marry your Son the better,
20 fay he bad an old Aunt died AMad? Do you want to
beg my Eftate? And mentioned [everal other Particulars
to this or the like Effelt.  And the [aid Mr. Arthur
Turnor thereupon further [aid, thar (he, (meaning the
faid Mrs.Clerke) would bave done the fame by him,
or Words to this Effecl y to which this Deponent [aith,
the faid Mys. Clerke replied, and [aid, in thefe Words,
or to this Effect : No, Brather, I would not have ex-
pofed you, and treated you afier fuch an inbuman manner ;
the meaneft Servant in my Houfe [hould have had from
me better Ufage.  And this Deponent further [aith, that
much more Difcour(e pafled between this Deponent and
the faid Mrs. Sarah Clerke, Afr. Arthur Turnor, and
others, during the Time that this Deponent continued in
her [aid fHoufe and Company on Saturday laft, which

was
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was from about Eleven of the Clock in: the Morning, to
about Five of the Clock in the Afternoon 3 and [aith, That
in all that Time the [aid Mrs. Sarah Clerke demeaned
and behaved her[elf as a Perfon endued with good Reafon
and Fudgment, and was not then or at any Time of that
Day, during this Deponent’s continuance with ber, as
aforefaid, in the Judgment of this Deponent, mad or luna-
tick, nor in any refpect diftempered or difordered as fuch.

Jurat 22 die Februarii

1717. Coram e E. Stukely.
Parker.

CHarIes Turnor of Parendon, iz the County of Ef-
fex, Efq; maketh Oath, That on or about the Sth or
6th Day of this Inftant February, be this Deponent bear-
ing thar Sarah Clerke (the Widow of  Clerke, late of
Watford i» Northamptonthire, Efg; deceas’d) who is
this Deponent’s Aunt, was indifpofed in ber Health, be this
Deponent then made her a Vifie at her Houfe in Jermyn-
ftrect in the Parifh of St. James within the Liberty of
Weftminlter, in the County of Middlefex, and then
and there this Deponent, upon difcourfing her, and hear-
ing and obferving her Words and Difcourfe, didy to the
beft of his Fudgment, think, and wverily believe, that [he
was very much difordered in her Under[land ing and Me-
mory, [o astobe raving and diftrafted : And more parti-
cularly, by reafon [he then exprefJed her [elf to this Depo-
nent in this Manner, or to the following Effelt, viz. That
fhe had an important Truth to reveal, and that it would
be to the Honour of this Deponent, and to the Advantage
of the Family, if this Deponent would go about it : Which
was, that King Charles the Second lay with his Sifter,
Princefs Henrietta, the Dutchefs of Orleans, when
fhe was in England, and got her with Child 5 and that
when [he came over, the Duke of Orleans ber Husband
found her fo, and told her, that he would have no more ;{1

s
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do ‘with ber, and that [be muft make her Choice what Pos-
[fon to take, upon which there were four or five Sorts brought,
and [he chofe Opium, which fhe took _and put her into a
Trance [o as [le appeared to be dead, upon which [he was
carried to a Church to be buried, and whenthey were goin
to Interr ber [he made a Noife in the Coffin, upon WFJI:{:"E
all the People prefent were frighted and all run away but
the Clerk, and be took an Ax and cleaved the Coffin, but
in doing it cut ber Leg, and then (he raifed up her Head
and frightned the Clerk and be ran away 5 and that there
was a poor Man doing Pennance in the Church, who bear-
ing @ Noife, came toher, and by her entreating him and
telling bim who [he was, he carried ber home to his Houfe,
where in a [hort Time [he was delivered of a Male Child,
who is now alive, and is Heir tothe Crown of England.
And then ehe [aid Mrs. Clerke faid to this Deponent, that

* be muft go tothe King, and reveal this important Truth

to bim, which fhe had in a Dream by the Impulfe of
God Almighty as [be [aid, and that this Deponent must
bring ber the King’s Anfwer.  And [he then [aid, That
fince the [aid Revelation [be bad fent over to France and
had got the Records of this Matter, and when [he was
well would produce them, but would have this Deponent
firft tell st to the King 5 and [be then wvery often fell into
violent Paffions in exalling repeated Promifes from this
Deponent that be would do what [he defired, and ufed
other incoberent Expreffions and Matters which this De-
ponent cannot recollect. And about four or five Days ago
this Deponent wvifited her again, and found her in the
Jame diftratted and raving Condition, and is credibly in-
formed by the Phyfician that vifits her, and others of her
Family, that [he continues in the [ame Plight as to the
Diforder of her Memory and Underftanding.

Jurat 20 die Februarii
1717. Coram me C. Turnor.
Littleton Powys.

Arthur
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L Rthur Turnor, Efg; maketh Qath, That the [aid

- Charles Turnor came from the faid Mys. Clerke

to this Deponent, and gave him an Account of the above-

mentioned Difcour[e between him the faid Charles Tur-

nor, and the [aid Mrs. Clerke.  Thar this Deponent

smmediately the [ame Day, went to the [aid Mrs. Clerke,

and [he then repeated to this Deponent the greateft Part of

the [aid Difcourfe [et forth in the Affidavit of the faid
Charles Turnor.

Jurat 20 die Februarii
PRy sy, Coram "me A, Turnor.
Littleton Powys.

A Ary Turnor of the Parifh of St. James, Weft-

A minfter, Spigfler, maketh Oath, That about a
Fortnight fince fhe this Deponent did hear ber Aunt
Mprs. Sarah Clerke (with whom [he has lived many Years
give Orders to ‘ber Servant Hugh Stone togo to Kin
George,’ and tell him be came from Aadamoifell Toorn-
wary, who defired him to come to hery  [he the faid Sarah
Clerke having Bufinefs of grear Importance with his Ma-
7eftys but in cafe his Majefty could not come, then that
his Majefty would fend one of bis Chief Lords, or to that or
the like Effect.  That the fame Day the [aid Sarah Clerke
diretted Blizabeth Tyrrel her then Woman to order Fires
to be made in the Parlour, Drawing-room, and Clofet,
and Wax-Candles to be put in the inward Rooms, and or-
dered the [aid Elizabeth Tyrrel to let all Company thar

came, who might be ready to receive the King, or chief

Minifter or great Lord that the King fhould fend, if he
did not come himfelf, That on Wednefday laft was Se’-
night the [aid Sarah Clerke having been at Kenfington,
at ber Return Home told this Deponent [he had that Day
feen ber Coufin Hartftong, the late Bifhop of London-
derry, and that be look’d as well and chearfully as ever

Jhe [aw bins, or to that Effect : Which faid Bifhop has jee;
ea

293 -
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dead near a Tear, as this Deponent verily believes, [he
this Deponent being well acquainted with the faid Bifhop’s
Widow. That about a Fortnight (fince, the [aid Sarah
Clerke told this Deponent, that [he this Deponent had
been at her the [aid Sarah Clerke’s Glafs Cupboard, and
taken from thence One hundred and fifty Broad-pieces,
which were mercurial Gold, adding, that ber Brother-in-
law, Sir Clement Clerke, bad taught her the faid Sa-
rah Clerke an Art, whereby fhe might bave made the
faid Broad-pieces of ten times the Value. That about the
fame Time, the [aid Sarah Clerke accufed this Deponent
of having taken out of her the faid Sarah Clerke’s Ca-
binet fome Verfes fhe the [aid Sarah Clerke had made

for ber Divertifement in her Youth, and of this Depo-

nent’s having difperfed, and caufed the [aid Verfes tobe

inted diabolically, and of this Deponent’s baving taken
out of the f[aid Cabinet an Hymn which the faid Sarah
Clerke had made to Jefus Chirift, adding, That the

faid Hymn had been tura’d to Cupid. And this Depo-

nent further faith, That [be this Deponent bath never in
any Sort or Manner whatfoever intermeddled or concerned
ber[elf in confining ber faid Aunt Clerke (otherwife
than by delivering fuch Orders velating to keeping the
Doors faft, and forbidding Companny, and the like, as
were given by this Deponent’s Father and Uncle Sir Bd-
ward Turnor, and Arthur Turnor, Efg;) the fame
being wholly managed and tranfatted by the Direttion and
Order of this [aid Deponent’s [aid Father and Uncle, as
this Deponent is well affured and believes.,

Jurat 20 die Februarii

1717. Coram me, Mary Turnor.
Littleton Powys.

Rachael
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Achel Pordage of the Parifh of St. James Weft-
minfter, Spinfter, maketh Oath, That [he bath

for many Tears !;prfﬂ well acquainted with, and hath for
Jome Months laft paft lived in the Houfe with Mrs. Sa-
rah Clerke, and that near a Fortnight fince the [aid
Sarah Clerke told this Deponent [he believed this De-
ponent was an innocent young Woman, and that [he the
faid Sarah Clerke had a good Refpect for her this De-
ponenty but that [be this Deponent might be the innocent
Caufe of poifoning her the faid Sarah Clerke by 4 dia-
bolical Power of laying a Medicine. Then the [aid Sa-
rah Clerke asked this Deponent if [he knew Mercury ?
to which this Deponent anfwered, No 5 then [aid the
Jaid Sarah Clerke zo this Deponent, May not you be
the innocent Caufe, and through Inadvertency give me a
Medicine that may be the Caufe of my Death ? _And
this Deponent further faith, that about a Week (fince,
the faid Sarah Clerke being in ber Bed-chamber called
this Deponent, and charged her to [tand with her Face to
the Curtains of the Bed, whilft (be the faid Sarah Clerke
Jpoke to one \Nebfter a Schoolmafter, that be the [aid
Webfter might not lay bis Hands diabolically on the
faid Curtains. And further [aith, that on Wednefday
laft was Scmight the [aid Sarah Clerke having many
Perfons with her in the Houfe as Vifitorsy talked wvery

extravagantly and different from ber ufual Manner of

Difcourfe and Underftanding, infomuch that Sir Ro-
bert Clerke, one of the Company, turned to this Deponent,
and asked, why his Aunt Clerke was permitted [o to
expofe her[elf ? or to that Effeit. _And this Deponent
further [aith, that from what is above [et forthto be
Jaid by the [aid Sarah Clerke, (which i true in Ef-
fett, and in Words as near as this Deponent can re=
member) as alfo from many other particular Sayings and

Tranfaitions of the [aid Sarah Clerke, fhe this De-

ponent

# :5—7‘



[ a4 ]

ponent did and does wverily believe, the [aid Sarah
Clerke was not, and yet s noty in her right Senfes.

Jurat 20 die Februarii
1717. Coram me Rachel Pordage.
Littleton Powys.

Homas Pryor, of Daventry iz the County of
Northampton, Gent, maketh Oath, That he

this Deponent having been employed, and [erved Madans
Sarah Clerke as her Steward or Agent in managing her
Fointure-Eftate in the [aid County of Northampton
for near thirty Years laft paft, upon bis this Deponent’s
coming to London abour Hillary Term laft, the Time
this Deponent ufed to [ettle and give up his Yearly Ac-
counts of her [ad Effate, he this Deponent went to wait
upon the [aid Mrs. Clerke on or about the feventh Day
of February laff, in order foito doy and to acquaint
ber with fome Particulars relating to her Tenantsy
when this Deponent was informed by her Servant Hugh
Stone that his Lady was much out of Order, and not
to be [poken with ; however, this Deponent was admitted
into ber Chamber, where [he lay in Bed 3 and on his con-
verfing with the faid Mis. Clerke, this Deponent had
very great Rerfon to believe, and did and does verily be-
lieve, that [he the faid Mrs. Clerke was not in her right
Senfes, nor capable of Talking; or giving reafonable
Direitions about her Affairs. _And this Deponent [aith,
that one Circumftance which, with many others, induced
him o to believe, was, that [be the [aid Sarah Clerke
told this Deponent be muft immediately go Poft into the
Country to give Direllions for plowing a quaniity o
an enclofed Ground to the Extent, and as far as a Bull’s
Hyde cut in Thongs would reach 5 adding, that [he -
had Power [oto do. _And the [aid Sarah Clerke then
told this Deponent [everal odd unaccountable Stories about
King
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King Charles the Second, and others, which this De-

ponent cannot believe a Per[on in right Senfes mould have

talked of.

Jurat Viceflimo die Fe-

- bruarii 17;3. Coram me The. Pryor.
Parker. -

Ary Avon, of the Parifh of St. James’s Weft-
minfter, Spinfter, maketh Oath, That [(he this
Deponent having [eprmd Mys. Mary Turnor, as ber

Waiting-woman, upwards of three Years, in whofe Ser-

vice f[he now s, 15 well acquainted with Mrs. Sarah
Clerke, her [aid Lady’: Aunty in whofe Houfe the
faid Mrs. Turnor lives. _And faith, that ([he this

Deponent hath heard, and wverily believes, that the faid

Sarah Clerke now 25, and for three Weeks laft paft,
and upwards, bath been wery much difordered in ber
Mind and Underftanding, [he this Deponent having
been told by Blizabeth Tyrrell, (who lately lived
mith the [aid Mrs. Clerke, and [erved ber in her Cham-
ber) that the [aid Mrs. Clerke hath beer guilty of
very many wild and extravagant Paffages and Tranf-
aitions, [ome of which this Deponent particularly re-

members, and are as follows, (viz.) That [he, the [aid.

Elizabeth Tyrrell, Hugh Stone, (the [aid Mys.
Clerke’s Butler) and others of the [aid Mrs. Clerke’s
Servants, told this Deponent, That on or about the §th
or 6th Day of this Inftant February, the [aid Mys.
Clerke gave to William Mills (ber the faid Mrs.
Clerke’s Foot-boy ) a Guineato go to Sir Edward Tur-
nor, and dfﬁrf him to [end for the Lord Harcourt,
and Sir Conftantine Phipps, to come and judge her
the [aid Mys. Clerke’s Family, to clear the Innocent,
and condemn the Guilty 5 and that the faid Sarah
Clerke then told the faid William Mills, Sir Edward
Turnor would give him another Guinea. And this

| ' - Depes
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B.;vaﬂmr Jaith, fhe bath heard every of the faid My,
Clerke’s Servants, (excepr the faid William Mills)
particularly the [aid Elizabeth Tyrrell, and Hugh
Stone, fhlame the faid William Mills for taking the
faid Guinea of the f[aid Mrs. Clerke ; adding, that
they believed, [he the [aid Mys. Clerke did not knew
what [he did ; and that [he, the faid AMrs. Clerke,
had [he been in her Senfes, would not bave given him
a Guinea y and the [aid Hugh Stone faid, he the faid
Hugh Stone bad lived with her the faid Mrs. Clerke
almoft 20 Tears, and [be had never given him a Six-
penny-piece 5 and the [aid Hugh Stone hath often with-
in thefe three Weeks laft paft, [aid to this Deponenent,
be was much concerned to fee bis Lady, the [aid Mrs.
Clerke, iz fuch a diftraited Condition. And this De=
ponent further [aith, the [aid Elizabeth Tyrrell bath
often complained to this Deponent of the unaccountable
Ufage, fhe the [aid Elizabeth Tyrrell hath had from
her Lady Mys. Clerke, fince [he the [aid Mbrs. Clerke
came from Bath, (which was on or about New-Years-
Day laft) [aying, that the [aid Mrs. Clerke had

inched, run Pins into, [cratched with her Nailsy, and
fetched Blood of her the [aid Elizabeth Tyrrell, had .
often called her the [aid Blizabeth Tyrrell up in the
WNight, and told her the [aid Elizabeth Tyrrell the
World was drowning, and [he the [aid Mrs. Clerke muft
fave their Souls 5 that her Houfe would be on Fire, and
that _ﬂi’#: the ﬁi’id Mrs. Clerke, had none but Devils
about ber, that would tell her nothing, but [he was told
st by Strangers; that the Sun was in Eclipfe, and there
was to come from the Ecliple, a great many Things,
wherein [he the [aid Mys. Clerke was to mag:: a great
many People happy. _And this Deponent further [aith,
That on Thurfday, the Thirteenth Inftant, [be this
Deponent faw the [aid Mrs. Clerke and Sir Talbot
Clerke together, without any other Perfon, at her the
Jaid Mrs. Clerke’s Cabinet, in the Room next her Bed-
Chamber, (where the [aid Ars. Clerke kept her Maug

| an
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and Tewels) and them the [aid Mys. Clerke and Sir .

. Talbot Clerke go down Stairs together.

Jurat Viceflimo primo die Fe-
bruari 1713, Coram me Mary Avon.
Litttle Powys.

Dward Benfon, Valet de Chambre 2o Si# Ed-

ward Turnor, of the Middle-Temple, Knight,
maketh Qath, That on \Wedne{day laff, he this Depoa
nent being [ent by the [aid Sir Bdward Turnor o the
Houfe of AMrs. Sarah Clerke, iz German-ftreet,
in the Parifh of St. James’s, Weltminfter, to be affifi-
ing inthe Care of the [aid Houfe, and to take an Ac-
count of thofe Ferfons that came to enguire for the [aid
Mrs. Clerke, and to obferve what Diforders happened
about the [aid Houfe from Perfons without : Fe this
Deponent, did inthe Afternoon of the [ame Wednelday,
Jee Sir Harry Dutton Colt a4t the Door of the [aid
Houfe, who in’this Deponent’s. Hearing, [aid he was,
Sir. Harry Dutton Colt, @ Fuftice of that Place, and
demanded Admittance into the faid Houfe y which be=

ing refufedyand this-Deponent telling the [aid Sir Harry,

that the [aid Sir BEdward Turnor | bhad given Orders
to the contrdry, and that no Body was to be admitted
until the Lord Chief Fuftice hady with the [aid Sir BEd=
ward Turnor, otherwife detexmined. The faid Sir
Harry reply’d, That if the Door of the [aid Houfe
was not opened, and Admitrance given bim, be would
get a File of Mulqueteers and break open the Doors,
or to that Effect. And this Deponeut further [aith,
That on Thurfday laft about Nooi, when this Depo=
went was in the faid Houfe for the Purpofes avove-men-
tioned, one Mr.Morgan came to the [aid Door, and
~ among [t ather Thingsy told this Deponens he heard the

% Kie E _ Lady

28



{13 ]

Lady of that Houfe was going to be murthered, and
Jaids be believed it to be true.

Jurat Viceffimo primo
die Februarii 1733.
Littleton Powys.

Borge Dowle, Citizen and Weaver of London,

: one of the Two Men appointed by Sir Edward

Turnor, Knicht, and Arthur Turnor, E/g; to look
after the Street Door of Adrs. Sarah Clerke’s Houfe,
in German-ftreet, maketh Oathy That on Wednefday
the 26th Day of this Inftant Bebruary, about Three of the
Clock in the Afternoon, Sir Thomas Clarges with one
a Conftable, came and knocked at

the [aid Door, which being lock'd and chained up, this
Deponent open’d the [ame as far as the Chain would per-
mit, (but not far enough for a Child to come in) that
then the [aid Sir Thomas Clarges, and Conftable, and
others, thruft vidlently againft the [aid Door, infomuch,
that with their Force, the Worm or Hook on which the
faid Chain bung, was much bent, and the [aid Chain
fell off, and the faid Door came then wide open. That
then the [aid Sir Thomas Clarges, and Confltable, one
Mrs. Tyrrilly and another Woman, came into the faid
Houfe, and went up Stairs (leaving one AMrs. Stukely’s
Servant or Footman in charge of the faid Door) and in
a fhort Time afterwards, came down Stairs with the [aid
Mrs. Sarah Clerke. That the [aid Sir Thomas Clarges
?pm his coming down Stairs, finding the Chain of the
ard Street-door put up again, and a Padlock upon it,

ordered a Smith to be fetched, to break open t».fe faid
Door, and look’d through the Key-hole of the [aid Street
Door, and called to [everal without, and bid them de-
fire Sir Robert Worfley’s Servants to let them through
vhe [wid Sir Robert Worlley’s Houfe (the fame being
fexs
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next to the faid Mrs. Clerke’s Houfe) to get over hus
Tard or Garden Wall, into the [aid Mrs. Clerke’s Yard
or Garden. That [oon afterwards, be this Deponent, [aw
four Men (two of whom own’d themfelves to fe the Lord
Cadogan’s Chair-men) come in at the Garden or Yard-
Door of the [aid Mrs. Clerke’s Houfe, who faid, they
hoped they were then ffrong enough for them (meaning
this Deponent and his Companion, whe were [o employed to
kecp the faid Door) 5 That [von afterwardsthe [ame Confta=
ble came to the [aid Houfe, and commanded this Deponent
to go with him, and took this Deponent to Mrs. Stukely’s
Houfe before the [aid Sir Thomas Clarges and Sir
Harry Dutton Colt, who were there, and the [aid Sir
Harry Dutton Colt then told this Deponent, if be wou'd
not find Bail, he the [aid Sir Harry Dutton Colt
would f[end him (meaning this Deponent) to Prifon;
whereupon this Deponent told the [aid Sir Thomas Clar~
ges and Sir Harry Dutton Colt, that the faid Sir
Edward Turnor would be one of his Bail, but after
fome time this Deponent was releafed.

Jurat Viceflimo die Febru-

arii 171Z. Coram me, Geo. Dowle
Littleton Powys.

Atthew Potley, Gitizen and Pin-maket of Lona

don, one of the two Men appointed by Sir Eds

ward Turnor, Kt. and Arthur Turnot, Efg; to look
after the Street-door of Mrs. Sarah Clerke’s Houfe in
German-ftreet, maketh Oath, That on Wednefday
the 26th Day of this inftant Febrvary, in the Afternoon,
be this Deponent having been in the Yard or Garden be-
longing to the [aid Mrs. Clerke’s Houfe, and coming
into the faid Houfe, heard [ome difturbance, and found
Jome Strangers in the Paffage, and going up Stairs, and
the Street-door open, whercupon this Deponent ask'd bis
Companion what was the Marter 2 who anfwered in a Sur-
B 5 prize,
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~ prize, that there were People come in 5 that this De-

ponent immediately put the [aid Door to, and Pad-lock’d
and \Chained the [ame up, foon after which, he this De-
ponent faw Sir Thomas Clarges (who faid he was a
Fuftice of the Peace) one a Conftable,
and fome Women come down Stairs with the [aid
Mprs. Clerke. Thar [oon after this Deponent and the
two Nurfes (who attended the [aid Adrs. Clerke) mwere
by the Order of the [aid Sir Thomas Clarges taken
by the [aid Conftable from the [aid Houfe, to a Pub-
lick  Ale-houfe in Piccadilly, where they were all de-
tained above an Hour, and from thence were brought to
Mrs. Stukely’s Houfe, before Sir Thomas Clarges
and Sir Harry Dutton Colt, who were there, and
they, and this Deponent’s Companion (who was there
alfo) were examined by, and before the [2id Sir Thomas
Clarges and Sir Harry Dutton Celt, whe ask’d this
Deponent who employed bim ? to which be anfwered, Sir
Edward Turnor ; then they asked this Deponent what
be did there ? (meaning at the [aid Mrs. Clerke’s
Houfe) : Towhich he anfwered, he was to keep the Doors,
and [ee that nothing was carried out of the Houfe. Then
the [aid Sir Harry Dutton Colt faid to this Deponent,
was you ordered there for nathing elfe 2 To which this
Deponent. anfwered, Tes, Sir, I was ordered to let no
Body in but whom Sir Edward Turnor diretted ; that
then the faid Sir Harry Dutton Colt and Sir Thomas
Clarges ask’d this Deponent for Security, who told them

that Mr. Morgan (who was there) knew him, and be

belicved might give bis Word for him 5 whereto the [aid
AMy. Morgan replyed, that be believed this Deponent

and bis Companion were honeft Meny or tothat Effett

dnd thereupon this Deponent and bis [aid Companion were
difcharged, the [aid Nurfes baving been difcharged be-
fore. _Aud this Deponent further [aith, that F{I’Efﬂldfd.r,
he this Deponent flood in the faid German-ftreet, un-
till be faw Sir Edward Turnor come to the [aid
Mys. Clerke’s Doory at which he the f(aid Sir Edward

_ Tur-
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Turnor knock’d many times before he the faid Sir Ed-
ward Turnor could get Admittance. This Dtpanem
and his Companion having been ‘taken out of the faid

Houfe, and Hugh Stone and William Mills beins
gat 172, -

]urat Viceflimo SEptlmG
die Februarili 17;:35. .y
Coram me Matthew Potley.

Parker.

N N E Barnes, Wife of Thomas Barnes, G-
tizen and 3:4!14'3?* of London, owe of the two
Nurfes who attended Afcs. Sarah Clerke, (by Doltor
Hale’s Direction) maketh Oathy That on Wednefday
the 26th Day of this inftant I-lehruary, about Three of
the Clock in the Afternoon, the [aid Doitor Hale, this
Deponent, and Magdalen Pain (the other of ‘the [aid
Nurfes) being with Ars. Sarah Clerke, in ber  Bed-
Chamber 5 [he this Deponent heard ﬁm‘s Body coming
up Qmm and immediately after knocking ar the fard
Bed-chamber ~ Door (the fame beins locked) “and des
manding Adwmittance in the Km{gs Name, threatning)
that if The faid Door was not vpened, they would break
it down 5 whercupon the [aid Doftor Hale asked “the
Jaid Magda]en Pain for the Key, and unlocked the ﬁzd
Door, and then Sir Thomas Clarges and
| a Conftable, with AMyrs. Stukely, ‘and her
Sifter Mrs. Malters, came into the Chamber, and took
rf:,-e Jaid Mps. Clerke from this Deponent, and led "ber
out of the [aid Coamber  that then the [aid Sir Thnmas
Clarges, and the [aid Conftable, took hold of this Des
ponent, each by one of her Arms, and hiwled this* De-
ponent about the Chamber, and gfrrrm.ard: dawii Stairs,
telling this Deponent, they would" ¢ ey her, and ﬂn:
Jhould' go to Newgate. Aud this L‘.ﬂwmr further
faithy that when (he was fo browsbt down Sraire, Psﬂ fou d,

that one af the tiwo Men ( who' were put into 'the fid
. LR 3 o 9N ' VAR e
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Mys. Clerke’s Houfe to take care of the Street-door)
bad Pad-locked up the [aid Street-door, [o that the [aid
Sir Thomas Clarges, the Conftable, Myrs. Stukely, and
ber Sifter Matters could not get out with the [aid Mrs.
Clerke 5 andthat [be, this Deponent, then [aw four Men,
(who got into the [aid Houfe, through the Yard or Gar-
den of the [aid Houfe, by climbling over Sir Robert
Worlley’s Yard or Garden-Wall) one of which was a
Snith, which the [aid Mrs. Stukely bad called for to
come and break open the [aid Door 5 and two of the
other Three, were the Lord Cadogan’s Chairmen, and
then either the [aid Sir Thomas Clarges, or the faid
Conftable faid to the [aid two Men, (whe were put to
take Care of the [aid Street-door) now can you fland out
any longer ? Upon which, one of the [aid Men (replying
it was then a Folly to refift ) took off the Padlock off the [aid
Street-door. _And this Deponent further [aith, that fbe
this Deponent, and the faid Magdalen Paine were then
taken out of the [aid Mys. Clerke’s Houfe, by the faid
Conftable, affifted with the faid Lord Cadogan’s twe
Chairmen s but before this Deponent was gone far from
the [aid Houfe, fhe this Deponent faw the fmd Mrs,
Clerke led out of her faid Houfe to the Houfe of the
faid Mpys. Stukely, that the [aid Conftable and Chair-
men took this Deponent and the [aid Magdalen Paine
to @ Publick Alchoufe in Ficadilly, and there kept them
above an Hour y and afterwards brought this Deponent,
with-the [aid Magdalen Paine, to the faid Mrs.Stukely’s
Foufe, before the [aid Sir Thomas Clarges and Sir
Harry Dutton Colt whe examined them and told them
they deferved to be put into Prifon, but that their Miftrefs
had begged for them  adding, that their faid Miftrefs
was very good 5 to which the [aid Magdalen Paine re-
plyed, [be thought not at all, for (he (meaning ber [elf,
the [aid Magdalen Paine) bad done nothing but what
fhe could anfwer 5 and that if (he bad deferved a Prie
fony they might put her there 5 that the faid Magdalen
Paine being asked by one of the Ladies (of which there

were
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were near a dozen) befides Sir Thomas Clarges,
Sir Harry Dutton Colt, Sir Talbot Clerke, ome
Mr. Morgan and others there prefent, if fhe (meaning
the [aid Magdalen Paine) was not amazed to be [ent
for to one (meaning Mrs. Clerke) fowell ? [he the [aid
Magdalen Paine anfwered, that [he the [aid Magdalen
Paine had been [ent for to [uch as were not fo bad
(meaning as the faid Myrs. Clerke). And then this De-
ponent and the [aid Magdalen Paine were told by the
Jaid Sir Thomas Clarges 4nd Sir Harry Datton
Colt, that they might go about their Bufine[s.

Jurat 27 die Februarii
2717. Coram me Anne Barnes,
Littleton Powys.

Agdalen Paine of Cripplegate Parifh, Lon-

don, Spinfter, one of the two Nurfes who at-

tended Mrs. Sarah Clerke by Dr. Hale’s Direttion,
maketh Oath, That on Wednefday the 26tk Day of
this Inftant February, about Three of the Clock in the
Afternoony the [aid Dr. Hale, this Deponent, and Anne
Barnes, (the other of the [aid Nurfes) being with the
faid AMrs. Sarah Clerke in her Bed-chamber, [he this
Deponent heard [ome Body coming up Stairs, whereupon
Jhe this Deponent went to the Door, and upon opening the
fame [aw Mrs. Stukely coming up Stairsy and then this
Deponent locked the [aid Door, and put the Key thereof
in ber Pocket. That the [aid Mys. Stukely (obferving
this Deponent to lock the f[aid Door) f[aid, Nay, we
will come in, That then this Deponent called the [aid
Dr. Hale to ber, and told him AMbrs. Stukely mas
coming up Stairs, whereupon the Doltor askes this Depo-
nent who that Mrs. Stukely was ? and how [he came 1a 2
To which this Deponent anfwered, That fome of thems
foolifh Fellows (meaning the Men appointed to keep the
Street-door of the [aid Mrs. Clexke’s Houfe) had ;ff:
F 4 er,
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ber in, That immediately after there was very great
kﬂﬂckfﬁg ar the Chﬂmé’ér-dwr, and thereupon the ﬁz:’d
Doilor asked who was there ? To which an An[wer was
made by [ome without, That they demanded Admittance
in the King’s Name, and bid him the Jaid Doctor open
the [a1d Chamber-door, whereto the faid Dottor replyd,
he had not the Key 5 but foon after this Deponent gave
~ the faid Doitor the Key, and he opened the [aid Door :
That this Deponent then went down Stairs to fend to Sir
Edward Turnor a7 Account of what was: done 5 and
whilft this Deponent was below, fhe this Deponent [aw
Mys. Stukely and another Woman leading the f[aid
Mys. Clerke down Stairs into the Parlour, who ordered
@ Chair to be called for the [aid AMrs. Clerke 3 That
one of the two Men (who were put into the f[aid
Mys. Clerke’s Houfe to take care of the Street-door)
having padlock’d up the [2id Street-door, the [aid Sir
Thomas Clarges, the faid Conftable, Mrs. Stukely,
ang the faid other Woman, could not get out with the
Jaid Mys. Clerke 5 that then this Deponent faw four
Men, (who had got inte the [aid Houfe through the Tard
or Garden of the [md Foufe, by climbing over Sir Ro-
bert Worfley’s Yard or Garden Wall) one of them was
2 Smith, which the [aid Myrs. Stukely had called for
t0 come and break open the Strect-door, and twe of the
other thrce AMen were the Lord Cadugan’: Chairmetty
and then either the faid Sir Thomas Clarges, or the
faid Conftable, [aid te the [aid two Men (who were put
to take care of the [aid Street-door) Now can you
ftand out any longer ? Upon which one of the fame
Men (replying it was then a Folly to refift) took, the
FPadlock off the faid Street-door. And this Deponent
further faith, that [be this Deponent and the [aid Anne
Barnes were then taken out of the [aid Mrs. Clerke’s
Houfe, by the [aid Confiable, affifted with the [aid
Lord Cadogan’s two Chairmen 3 but before this Depo-
went was gone far from the [aid Houfe, [he this De=
ponent faw the fmd Myrs. Clerke led out of her faid
: Hﬂﬂﬁ'
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Houfe to the Houfe of the faid Mys. Stukely. That
the [aid Conftable and Chairman took this Deponent
and the [aid Anne Barnes to a pﬂéliffz Aleboufe in
Piccadilly , and there kept them above an Hour o
and afterwards brought them to the faid Mrs. Stuke-
ley’s Houfe, before the faid Sir Thomas Clarges and
S Harry Datton Colt, who examined them and told
tbems they deferved to be put into Frifon, but that their
Miftrefs bad bego’d for them, adding, that their [atd
Miftrefs was very good. To which this Deponent re-
plied, She thought not at all, for [he (meaning her[elf
this Deponent) had done nothing but what [be could
anfwer, and if [he bad deferved a Prifon, they might pue
her there. That this Deponent being ask’d by one of
the Ladies (of which there were near a dozen, befides
the [aid Sir Thomas Clarges, Sir Harry Dutton Colt,
Sir Talbot Clerke, one Mr. Morgan and others there
prefent) if fhe (meaning this Deponent) was not ama-
zed to be f[ent for to one (meaning Mrs. Clerke) fo
well ? She this Deponent anfwered, thar fhe this Depo=
nent had been [ent for to fuch as weve not [o bad ; and
then this Deponent and the [aid Anne Barnes were told
by the faid Sir Thomas Clarges and Sir Harry Dut-
ton Colt, that they might go about their Bufinefs.

Jurat 25 die Februarii

1717. Coram me Magdalen Paine.
Littleton Powys, R

Nurfe
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Nurfe Paine’s daily Obfervation of the incoherent
and diftrated Wordsand Aéions of Mrs. Clerke,
whilft fhe attended her for twelve Days, ’till fhe
was forced away by the Juftice of the Peace.

N E Night fbe [aid Mys. Elower was ravifl’d,

O fhe [aid the poor Creature was come down to the
Door, and lay down to hear if [he could hear her
breathe, and [he heard [ad Groaning and difmal Cries,
and it was Men come in and was ravifhing poor Flower ;
and fhe [aid William Mills was come, [tollen up, and
Jat at ber Door with a Bortle of Oyl of Sweet Almonds,
and [ate waiting at the Door to bear his poor Miftrefs
breathe 5 and that Katharine was crope up in the Cor-
ner to attend her Miftre[ss Call, and hear if [he could
hear her breathe, and [he heard [ome Men come up
Stairs and they ravifh’d Katharine, for [he was a pure
Virgin, altho’ [he could not read one Word — She
faid her Niece'’s Woman was gone away, and bhad fent
fome Body to cry along by the Door, that her eldeft Bro-
ther was run mad, with a Defign to make her mad ; and
twen [he raved, and down on her Knees, and [aid fhe
hoped [he did not believe it, and [he boped [he would
not have her Ends — Then [he [aid her Brother would
come with the pofle before him, and they would cry,
Ab, eb, oby, ub, Amen, ab, eb, ob, ub, Amen, and
Jo [ing before bim, and [o divide her Goods — One
Night [he went and broke off the Seals of the Cabinet,
and took out a great many Papers, and when the Nur-
fes [ee that, they cal’d My. Pordage, and he came ard
found her at the Cabinet, and he asked her bow fhe did ?
and what Papers thofe were (he bad in her Arms 2 She
told bim they were nothing but Papers [he had of young
Ladies, on making, and (ke would have them out
before the King come to take Poffeffion, and be would
fhow the Papers and expofe the Ladies 5 and [he thruft
thers,

N
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them under ber Bolfter, [o the Gentleman defired to fee
them s [o with per(wading (he fetch’d them and gave
bhim, and charged him to keep them from the King,
for fhe would not have the Ladies expofed — The
Nurfe ask’d her for the Bills ? [he faid they had tore
them to pieces, for [he [ee Pieces of them flying a-
bout the Room 5 the Nurfes told ber they did f[uppofe
fhe kad gave them to fome Body ; but [he faid we would
fetch Madam Trunor, [he knew where they were : But
ftill [he f[aid (he [ee Pieces of them flying about the
Room 5 but when [he came to get up, we [aw the Pieces
fcatter’d about the Bed ; [o then we asked ber what it
was, [be [aid the Bills that was tore all to Pieces, [o we
asked how [he came to do fo? [he [aid they was [ome=
times in ber Stockings, [ometimes in her Shoes, [ome-
times under her Backy fometimes under ber Bolfter,
fometimes they were got down to the Feet of the Bed
fo we picked up all the Pieces and pinned them up in
Paper, and we asked ber bow [he could do [0 ? and how
Jhe would get the Money? [he [aid [he did not fear
getting the Money, for the Lord Carnarvon was an
honourable Gentleman, and [he would [et him in the
Eront of the Battle, and be would get the Money. —
Then [he brought me ber black Velvet Petticoat and
gave me, and bid me go take which Suit of Cloathes
I liked beft, and [he would have given me half a Crown,
ané I would not haveit, fothen [he would have me take
ber Night-gown for the Half Crown [he owed me 5 [he

- put me on & Nightrasly and would put Nurfe on another,
and bid us lead her down into the Parlour and fit there
with her 3 and would bave us lead her to Sir Robert
Worfley’s and thruft her in there, and order her
Coach to get veadyy and the Dottory and [be and I pue
on a clean Nightraily (hould gointo the Park together. -
She flew in a Paffion, and [aid, [ome Body bad come and
we afleep, and bad [lollen the Featbers out of her Bed
avd I perfwaded ber to the contrary 5 then fhe cried out,
aid fome Body had come and ftollen her Bed, (he raved,
and
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and threw her Chamber-pot againft the Boards to awake
all the Family for there was Thieves in the Houfe, and
bid us go [cufflle and get what we could for our felves --
She [aid [he was a Prophetefs, and [he tied ber Face
up in an Handkerchief, and call'd the Nurfe to tell ber
if the upper Corner of it came juft 3 Inches down her-
Forehead, and there [he lay prophefying 5 then [he call'd
for a Candle, and rubb’d her Face all over with Tallow 3
then fhe raved and [aid we [hould fetch Keylway the
Surgeon, [o [be raved for 2 Hours, then calld for a
Boa, but we could not tell what it wasy we carried ber
d Bottle, but (he [hook ber Fand and [aid, a Boa ; we
carried ber the Clothy but [Fill [he {aid, a Boa: we car-
ried her Pot, but ftill fhe lay with ber Face tied upin
the Handkerchief, and faidy, a Boa 5 fo we could think
of mothing elfe 5 [(he [aid, a Cup, fo we carried her a
[mall China-Cup held about half a quarter of a Pints
fo [he made Water in it and [ome inthe Bed, and wafh-
ed ber Face in ity but in getting up her Handkerchief
dropped off, and we [ee her Face which had been hid
 for many Hours y then [he cried outy and tied it up a-
gainy, and [aid it was inflamed, and that [he was a
deform’d Creature, and that ber Nofe was coming off,
and fell crying our for Keylway the Surgeon agan,
and [o call’d for a Cloath with a Hole in it for her to
breathe through, fo then (he wonld have Dr. Mead
come to her. — Her Niece to make her eafy fent for
the Dottor, [o when be came [he made the Doitor feel
if ber Noje was not coming off y be told her no, it was
oz faft, but [he would nave st that the Bone was come
from the Griftle, then [he faid (he bad taken Horn
Fowdery and it had made ber Face come all out in Horns,
then fhe was 1n a fad Taking for fome Days about the
Horns.

Then (he wor't eat any  for [he will receive the Sa=
crament every Day, and would faft, and would ear no-
thing for fear of defiling of her felfs every thing [he
toucked defiled her o then kneeled and made a Prayer of s
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an Ehour long for old ¥lower and I, and [he [aid, 1
bleed inwardly, and made Nurfe ger: and blow up'a
Zood Fire, and put to my Stomach, but Nurfe told her
1 was well and laugh’dy bur fhe [aid I groan’d in Spi-
Tity and made Nurfe go backward and formard and
bring me warm Cloaths for my Stomach, and:calld
Madam Turnor to come and belp me, and told bher
fhe had Death in ber Room, and (he fhould belp me,
and I told her I was very well, but fhe faidy Oh, Child,
don’t fpeak, it will make you bleed the more.

Then [he would often take up all bér Petticoars, and
put down ber Stockings and pray bare knee’d, and then
would get up and Read in another Place and pray,
and fo go round the Room.— There was a blue Silk
Quilt lay on her Bed, there [he made the Nurfe come
and turn the Fringe under, for. it defiled her, then fhe
faid, Ob ! take it away for it defiles me, 1 am a pure
Virgin, O pray turn it up atop of the Quilt, o we turn'd
it up a top then fhe cried, O dear! it defiles me, take
it quite away and pull it quite off, for I am pure and
undefiled 5 [0 we, to oblige ber, pulld it offs .\ -

Mr. Coates, Feb. 16th, 1717.

WE being informed that you did make our dear Si-
fter Clerke’s Will, and by that Means been ac-
 quainted with fome, or most of her Concerns. )

- Ana you, Mr. Arthur Sparke, baving audited most
of our dear Sifter’s Incomes, of her Fointure, and other
of her Affairs : -

We ber two Brothers, domake it our earnest RequeSt,
That you Two will do us the Favour, to go to morrow Morn-
gy bf_iﬁg the 17th Inftant, to ber Houfe in ]ermin-
ftreet, and there caufe her Cabinet where [he kept ber Mo-
ney and Fewels to be fealed up, and carried into the Din-
ing- Room, and there open the Cabinet in the Prefencesof
Jome Witneffes, and take an Atcount of what .Money,
Jewelsy and Baunk-Bills, and Bonds [he has by ker, or

amy
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any where elfe that can be found, and take an Inventory
of all, and lock them them up in the fame Cabinet, and
Seal it up with both your Seals, and order fome Body
to fhut the Shutters of the Windows of that Dining-room,
of the Drawing-room, and the Clofet within the Dramw-
ing-room, and order a Padlock to be put upon the Di-
ning and Drawing-room Doors, and [eal them up with
each of your Coats of Arms. ,

There may be feveral Papers of Concern in her Cabi-
met, or in ber Clofet, in her outward Room where fhe
lies. We defire you would be pleafed to have them bound
up in Bundles,if any [uch, and put into the Cabinet be-
fore it be fealed up, and then leave the Keys of the Ca-
binet with Mrs. Anne Flower, to be kepr by her till
fuch time as we fhall call for them.

There are alfo many Parcels of Plate, fome we [up-
%a locked up, and [ome in the Cuftody of her Servant
Hugh, and fome [be called ber Chamber-Plate : We de-
fire alfo you'll be pleafed to call for any Inventory any
of her Servants may have of the Plate, and [ee if the
Plate does anfwer the Inventory. If there be no Inven-
tory, we defire you'll caufe one to be made, and let us
bave a Copy of the old One, if any, or a Copy of the
new One, and what new Plate [he has bought, if any
added to ity and then let the Plate be locked up in &
Trunk or Cheft locked and fealed up, and left in the Di-
ning-Room before it be locked and fealed up.

There will be alfo a large Quantity of fine Linnen
which Mrs. Flower can give the beft, and we believe the
only Body which can give an Account of.

_ We defire an Inventory may be taken alfo of that,
and one Copy left in fome Chefts or Trunks, and ano-
ther Cﬁz_}' delivered to us, and alfo put into the Dining=
Room before it be fealed up 5 but there muft be lefr out
of the Linnen fuch a Quamity as Mys. Flower [hall

think convensent for the Ufe of the Family.
This
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This is our Reqneft,which if youtwo pleafe to perform,
yau’ﬂ very much ﬂfﬂg'ﬂ

Your moft humble Servants,

( Superfcribed ) This to
Charles Coats, Efq; and Edw, Turnor,
to Arthur Sparke, Gent. Arth, Turnor,

A Copy of Mrs. Hartffonge’s Letter, to Mrs, Mary
Turnor, Feb. 13th, 1717,

Madam,

T is with great Grief that I acquaint my dear Coufin

how troubled I am, that my good Coufin Clerke was
fo very ill, and I fear much difordered in her Head,
and to me [eemed to have a Fever upon her 5 I would
have waited upon ber home, but ber Servant told me,
there was a Friend that was put down in the Street who
was to go home with ber. I pray God reftore ber to
ber former Health, and [cund [he may perfectly recover
the good Senfe [he was always Miftre[s of. If my poor
Coufin was well enough for me to come to Town, Ifhould
not give you this Trouble, which makes me beg the Fa-
vour to know bow my Ceufin is this Morning ; for not
enly for ber own Merit, bur the Honour of being related
muft make me have a double Value for your Family
MMadam, being with great Truth, dear Coufin Turnor,

Your moft Faithful
Humble Servant,
J- Hartftonge.
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Coufin Spark, bl

R. Codts being out of Town, who jointly with
M you took an Inventory of, and locked an fealed
up fuch of our dear Sifters Money, Fewels, Plate, and
Security for Money, as appéars by the [aid Inventory :
We ber two Brothers do defire you, in the Company
and Prefence of Myr. George Downes, whom we. de-
fire to [upply the Place of My, Coats, to go to Doélor
Bridges and Mr. Walcott, who have undertaken to
take a particular Care of our faid Sifters [aid Perfonal
Eftate, and with them, to [ee if the Seals of the [aid
Mr. Coat’s and your ﬁ{f; remain on the Doors to
which you affix’d ‘them, as' they were placed and unal-
teved : And fince it is my Lord Chief Fuftice’s Opinion,
that we cannot legally keep Poffeffion of the Houfe, to
preferve the Goods and Perfonal Eftate, who hath advie
fed, though not commanded us to deliver the Poffeffion
thereof to our [aid Sifter, notwithftanding the Riot, and
forcible Entry committed, as appears upon Oath, We
therefore defire you, that you will in the Prefence of the
Jaid Doétor Bridges and Mr. Walcott, withdraw the .
our Perfons that we left in our [aid Sifter’s Houfe in
Poffeffion of the [aid Goods and Per[onal Eftate, and
permit them the [aid Doétor Bridges and Mr. Walcott,
with our [aid Sifter’s Approbation, to take Poffeffion
theveof, this we requeft of, and authorife you to do,
who are | |

| Your Humble Servants, -
Dated 27th of E. Turnor,
February, 1717, A. Turnor.

(Indorfed.) We do acknowledge, That the Orders
and Dire&ions within mentioned, have
been performed, as to the Quitting the
Pofleflion, this 27th Day of February,

1717. Witnels our Hands,

H. Bridges.
Hum. Walcatt
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H E Reader we fuppofe is tired by this
time, wich all this confufed heap of

Rubbifh ; which, yet it was neceffa-
ry for him to pafs through, in order to arrive

at the End, to which we propofe to conduét .

him, viz. the Knowledge of the Truth. And'if
he will impartially lay Things together, we
doubt not he will be of Opinion, that the Phy=
fictans had Reafon to Judge, and the Relati-
ons to aft, in the Manner they have done,
with regard to Mrs. Clerke. The Cure was
the only Thing that was to be had in view;
and as long as that End was purfued,
and purfued regularly; the Perfons' that
were concerned in the Management of her,
can defpife all the Afperfions that have
been induftrioully caft upon them; whether
by deluded or deligning People, by thofe who
believed, or thofe who disbelieved the Truth
of theirown Reports. Inhumanity and Cru-
elty, are the leait Things that are laid to the
Charge of thofe Perfons, who are {fatisfi-
ed within themfelves, that they have alted
both with Kindnefs and Integrity towards her:
The general Accufation is, That a feverer
and more extraordinary Regimen was ufed,
than Mrs. Clerke’s Cafe feemed to require:
Which Accufation we allow would have
been very juft, had the Suppofition; upon
which it is founded, been true, that the Cafe

G did
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did not require it. But the plain Matter of
Falt is this; eafy and gentle Methods had
been tried by Dr. Mead for three Weeks to-
gether ; and afterwards by him in Conjuntti-
on with Dr. Freind for a Fortnight more.
But thefe Methods being ufed without having
the defired Effett; her Diforder encreafing by
her own Obftinacy and Irregularity, and evi-
dent Signs of Diftration appearing upon her,
they recommended her to another Hand and
more ftri¢t Difcipline ; but not till they had
found, by five Weeks Experience, that gen-
tle Methods were of no Effe¢t. They might
indeed have gone on longer, if their Delign
had been to pleafe rather than cure, in
foothing, and humouring, and prefcribing to
her to no manner of Purpofe ; and probably
enough, would have had this Advantage to
themfielves, by that Means, that their Con-
dut would have been unqueftioned, though
her Cafe had been more deplorable. We know
not how thefe two Gentlemen will anfwer
their not getting as much Money out of her
as ever they could ; but we believe this is
the only Irregularity they can be charged
with in their Pratice. As for our felves,
what could we do better, or otherwife, for
our Sifter, than by applying to the moft emi-
nent and approved Phyficians, and followin
the Directions, which thofe Phylicians gave
And what could any Phyficians do better,
than having found the Nature of their Patient’s
Diftemper, immediately to put her under a
pro-
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proper Regulation, before it was grown to
fuch a height, as might have been too ftrong
for any Medicines ¢ The main Thing to be
blamed, both in the Doétorsand us, is their
not calling in Sir fohn Shadwell as they ought
to have done, for then fhe would undoubted-
ly have been pronounced fooner than {he was,

to be of a fober Mind
But let us expoitulate this Matter a little
withregard to the Teftimony, that was given
betore my Lord Chief Juftice. It was there
alledged by {fome Phyficians, and fome Ladies,
that Mrs. Clerke was perfettly well, and of #
fober Mind. But what if fhe was ? Does it from
thence follow, that fhe had never been other-
wife ? Is any Thing more common, than for
diftratted Perfons to have fome Intervals of
Senfe, and fometimes pretty long Intervals;
and yet for the Diforder to returnwith as much
Violence as ever 7 How far any one, who is a-
ble to give a Rational Anfwer to fuch Quefti-
ons, as are put at the Time of Examination be-
fore a Court of Juftice, is deemed by the Law
to be of a [ober Mind, we prefume not to deter-
mine : But {o far we will venture to fay, by the
Rules of common Senfe, without pretending
either to Law or Phyfick, that every one ought
not to be pronounced of « [ober Mind, who 1s a~
bleat fome certain Times to give a reafonable
Anfwer. Mrs. Clerke, ’tis faid, gave a long,
but coberent and moving Account of the whole Cafe,
and her barbarous Ufage. Long indeed it was,
and how coherent, the Reader muft judge:
| G 2 But
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But who that walks through Bedlam-Hofpital
any Day in the Week, but may meet with the
like Difcourfes from many poor difordered
Creatures there, who will tell all the Particu-
lars of their own Stories, in fuch an orderly
and fenfible manner, as would make a Stran-
ger apt to believe, there was as little Caufe for
their Confinement, as is pretended to have
been for that of this unfortunate Perfon?

We will grant {till farcher, for Argument’s-
Sake, which yet need not be granted, that
Mrs. Clerke was, when the three Phylicians
and Ladies vifited her, and has continued ever
fince, ta be of 4 fober Mind. And what will
follow from hence, but that fhe had recovered
her Senfes by the Methods that were propofed,
and that therefore thofe Methods were fuitable
and proper? Iciscertain, {he had taken purging
Phyfick feveral times, beflides other Medicines,
while {he was under the Care of Dr. Hale : And
if after; this {he was well, as the Inquifitors af-
firmed her to be, why (hould not her Cure be
afcribed to the viedicines, that had been dire-
¢ted and prefcribed by him ? It does not in-
deed appear, that any of the Deponents did po-
fitively avouch upon Oath, that Mrs, Clerke had
never, been out of Order : And yet they ought
to have faid this, if they would have faid any
Thing to the Purpofe; otherwife the Evidence,
even of the very belt Phyficians, three Weeks
ora Month afterwards, could be no contradi- .
&tion to the [eftimony of thofe, who had been
Eye-witnelles of her Diforder {olong before,

Why
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Why Ladies {bould be thought better Judges
of Diftempers than Phyficians; why the Te-
ftimony of thofe who had feen her but once,
or twice at moft, fhould be preferable to theirs
who had attended her long, and vilited her
oiten ; and why thofe who thought her in her
Senfes when they faw her, fhould be allowed
to know that fhe was in her Senfés, when they
did notfee her ; are Points not {o evident to
Men of ordinary Underftanding, as they may
perhaps be to Men, that are more learned in
the Law.,

There is another Thing to be taken notice
of, as being frequently repeated in the Depofi-
tions, vzz. that Mrs.Clerke was confined againft

273

herown Confent. This indeed 1s an unaniwera-

ble Objettion, and therefore we muft leave it
as we find it; f(ince it is the undoubted Privi-
ledge of every free born Subjett of Emgland to
be the Judge of his own Cafe, and to tell whe-
ther he be diftra¢ted, and whether he will be
confined or not.

It will appear from the Account that has
been laid before the Reader, that Dr. Levett,
who was altogecher difinterefted in chis Affair,
and agreed upon by all Parties, as well as by the
Right Honourable Lord who heard the Caufe,
to be as well qualified for an InfpeCtor as any
one that was called, was entirely of Opinion
with her ficft Phyficians, that there were evi-
dent Signs of Diltraction: And oneof theLa-
dies, whowas appointed to vificher at thefame
time, came fully iato the fame Opinion ; and

it
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it was agreed then, that Mrs. Clerke {hould be
continued in the fame Way for the Recovery of
her Health ; and nothing that we know of has
happened fince to make any of the Phyficians
(whatever theLadydid) retra&t,or think them-

{elves miftaken in theJudgment they thengave.
After {o particular an Accountof this Affair,
every one may judge, if there was a Confpiracy
in the Cafe, on which Side it lay ; thed:finterefi-
ed Phyficians, as they call themfelves, ifthey did
not know that a Lunatick Patient may have a
lucid Interval of owe Day, efpecially after tex
Days taking Phyfick, may indeed, be very fit
to be employed as Evidences on fome Occafi-
ons, but will hardly be trufted by any one in
his right Senfes, in their own Profeflions if
theydid know this, they were very wicked and
unjuft, in athrming that one whom they had
never {een before, was notdiftempered in Mind
ten Days ago, becaufe {he was now tolerably
fober and quiet. But the Matter indeed was
this, Thefe Gentlemen thought they had an
Opportunity given’em of afperfing fome of the
Profeflion, whom they were grieved to fee
univerfally Eminent and Succefsful. Accord-
ingly, before my Lord Chief Juftice, they faid,
that thofe Phyficians were miffaken; though it

was impoflible for them toknow,whether the
were or no, fo many Days before ; but in pri-
vate Companies, fome of them infinuated, there
muft be unfair Dealing, and a Confederacy
between the Relations and Phyficians, which
they themfelves did not believe, and the con-
trary
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trary appeared in every Step that had been
taken.

The Sum of the Cafe, as far as appeared
in Court, feems to be this: Three Phyficians
were call’d in, to {ee whether four others had
done their Duty ; and by their unaniamous
pronouncing the Lady to be Well, feem plainly
to us to have declar’d in the Affirmative.
And we heartily wifh, upon many Accounts,
that Mrs. Clerke’s Health may have been re-
ftor’d (tho’ there is too much Reafon to fear
it is not) to as great a Degree, as any of the
Infpectors have affirm’d it to be.

The Occafion of this publick Appeal to the
World (as was faid in the beginning) was from
a late Pamphler, publifh’d under the Title of
Mys. Clerke’s Cafe : Publifh’d indeed by the
Bookfeller buta lictle while ago ; but handed
about and publickly read, not only by the Au-
thor, but by two Perfons of great Diftinétion, a
governing Lady, and an abdicated Desn, fome
Months before. Which Pamphlet we are {ure
could notbe wrote by any one, who calls him-
felf a Gentleman, and we are loath to fuppofe
it wrote by any One, who is call’d a Phyfician.
And yet there is fuch a Peculiarity in the
Style (if it may be call’d a Style) as eafily
difcovers it to have been penn’d by a Pretender
to Phyfick; tho’ the Hints at the latter End
are fo extremely ridiculous as well as foreign
to the Cafe, as plainly demonftrate the Au-
thor (whoever he be) to know little of the

Matter he pretends to write abou.
' There
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There is likewife another Reafon for {up-
pofing this Author to belong to the phyfical
Faculty, becaufe it may happen 'to turn to his
own Intereft, if he can caft a Blot upon the
Reputation of the moft famous among his Bre-
thren: But then at the fame Time it fhews
him to be as deftitute of Practice as he 15 of
Honour or Integrity, {ince he has Occafion to
defcend to fuch litcle vile Arts, as the honeft
Profellors of the Faculty always abominate,

It is not in the lealt from any Difadvan-
tage we apprehend to our felves that we take
Notice of this infamous fatherlefs Libel ; but
out of a juft Indignation to fee our felves re-
proach’d by a paltry Scribbler, who is eicher
afhamed or afraid to put his Name to his own
Performance. Tho’ it muft needs be confefs’d, if
by this Means he can lie hid, he will have fhewn
himlelf Malfter of much more Senfe, than any
Thing he has here publifh’d can entitle him
to: For tho’ he may be Proof againft any Thing
we can do with our Pens, yet I would advile
him to confider, that there are fuch Things as
Cudgels in the World. But ’till he ventures
to throw off’ his Mask, and let us know Who
he is, we fhall trouble ourfelves no”further,
either with him or his Works : And probably
not then neither (only by way of Cudgel)
unlefs he (hould happen to makea better Figuse
in his own Drefs, than he does in his Difguife.

Edward Tuarnor.
| Arthur Tavaore
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